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IMPERIAL | The Company is well positioned to benefit 
from a strong copper market with 43-101 supported 
measured and indicated copper resources of about            
5 billion pounds.  We remain focused in British Columbia, 
where we have worked with local communities,              
First Nations partners, and our province for decades.       
We plan to be a key part of British Columbia’s post         
pandemic economic recovery and we look forward to    
reopening Mount Polley and Huckleberry in the              
near future.  

RED CHRIS | All metal production in 2020 saw an          
increase over 2019 totals, with gold production            
increasing over 100%.  The cash cost of producing copper 
including by-product revenue in 2020 was US$1.43 per 
pound.  Newcrest has initiated a pre-feasibility study on 
the development of an underground block cave mine.       
Completion of this study is expected mid-2021.        
Thereafter, a feasibility study is planned for delivery      
mid-2022.   

MOUNT POLLEY | The potential of underground block 
cave mining is being investigated. This type of mining   
utilizes new technology, results in a smaller                    
environmental impact and is more carbon neutral. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) for Imperial Metals Corporation (“Imperial”, the “Company”, “we”, 
“us” or “our”) should be read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes for the 
year ended December 31, 2020.  

The Consolidated Financial Statements and comparative information have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The reporting currency of the Company is the Canadian (“CDN”) Dollar. 

The Company has made additional adjustments related to the restatement and correction of values during the provisional 
period associated with the sale of a 70% interest in the Red Chris mine.  

This MD&A contains statements that may be considered forward-looking information, and therefore investors are directed 
to review the “Forward-Looking Statements & Risks Notice” within this MD&A. 

Imperial is a Vancouver based mining company active in the acquisition, exploration, development, mining and production 
of base and precious metals. The Company owns the Mount Polley and Huckleberry copper mines and holds a 30% interest 
in the Red Chris copper/gold mine and has a 45.3% interest in the Ruddock Creek lead/zinc property. Imperial also maintains 
a large portfolio of greenfield exploration properties. Management continues to evaluate various opportunities to advance 
many of these properties.  

Imperial’s principal business registered and records office address is Suite 200, 580 Hornby Street, Vancouver, British  
Columbia V6C 3B6 Canada. The Company was incorporated under the British Columbia Company Act, which was superseded 
by the British Columbia Business Corporations Act, on December 6, 2001 under the name IMI Imperial Metals Inc. Imperial 
changed its name to Imperial Metals Corporation on April 10, 2002. 

The Company is listed on The Toronto Stock Exchange, and its shares trade as symbol III. At March 17, 2021, the Company 
had 128,526,424 common shares outstanding, and on a diluted basis 128,526,424 common shares outstanding. Additional 
Company disclosure can be obtained from imperialmetals.com or sedar.com. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS & RISKS NOTICE 

This MD&A is a review of the Company’s operations and financial position, as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020, 
and plans for the future based on facts and circumstances as of March 17, 2021.  Except for statements of historical fact 
relating to the Company, certain information contained herein constitutes forward-looking information which is prospective 
in nature and reflect the current views and/or expectations of Imperial.  Often, but not always, forward-looking information 
can be identified by the use of statements such as "plans", "expects" or "does not expect", "is expected", "scheduled", 
"estimates", "forecasts", "projects", "intends", "anticipates" or "does not anticipate", or "believes", or variations of such 
words and phrases or statements that certain actions, events or results "may", "could", "should", "would", "might" or "will" 
be taken, occur or be achieved. Such information in this MD&A includes, without limitation, statements regarding: future 
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic; the ability to continue operations in lieu of the COVID-19 pandemic; the effectiveness 
of preventative actions put in place by the Company to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic; expectations regarding the 
care, maintenance and rehabilitation activities at Mount Polley mine and at Huckleberry mine; expectations and timing 
regarding current and future exploration and drilling programs; production and marketing; expectations regarding metal 
recoveries; expectations regarding updates to the Red Chris resource model; capital expenditures; adequacy of funds for 
projects and liabilities; our belief in the merit of and expectations regarding ongoing legal claims; outcome and impact of 
litigation; cash flow; working capital requirements; the requirement for additional capital; results of operations, production, 
revenue, margins and earnings; authorizations and permits; potential acquisitions; future prices of copper and gold; future 
foreign currency exchange rates and impact; future accounting changes; and future prices for marketable securities.   
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Forward-looking information is not based on historical facts, but rather on then current expectations, beliefs, assumptions, 
estimates and forecasts about the business and the industry and markets in which the Company operates, including, but 
not limited to, assumptions that: the scope and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on our business will not 
be significant and the Company’s operations will be able to return to normal after the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided; 
the Company will have access to capital as required and will be able to fulfill its funding obligations as the Red Chris minority 
joint venture partner; risks related to holding non-majority investment interests in the Red Chris mine and the Ruddock 
Creek Joint Venture Project; the Company will be able to advance and complete remaining planned rehabilitation activities 
within expected timeframes; there will be no significant delay or other material impact on the expected timeframes or costs 
for completion of rehabilitation of the Mount Polley mine and implementation of the Mount Polley long term water 
management plan; the Company’s initial rehabilitation activities at Mount Polley will be successful in the long term; all 
required permits, approvals and arrangements to proceed with planned rehabilitation and the Mount Polley long term 
water management plan will be obtained in a timely manner; there will be no material operational delays at the Red Chris 
mine; equipment will operate as expected; there will not be significant power outages; there will be no material adverse 
change in the market price of commodities and exchange rates; the Red Chris mine will achieve expected production 
outcomes (including with respect to mined grades and mill recoveries and access to water as needed). Such statements are 
qualified in their entirety by the inherent risks and uncertainties surrounding future expectations. We can give no assurance 
that the forward-looking information will prove to be accurate. 

Forward-looking information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause 
Imperial’s actual results, revenues, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, 
performance or achievements expressed or implied by the statements constituting forward-looking information.   

Important risks that could cause Imperial’s actual results, revenues, performance or achievements to differ materially from 
Imperial’s expectations include, among other things: the risk that the Company’s beneficial interest of the Red Chris mine may 
be diluted over time should it not have access to capital as required and will not be able to meet its funding obligations as the 
Red Chris minority joint venture partner; that additional financing that may be required may not be available to Imperial on 
terms acceptable to Imperial or at all; uncertainty regarding the outcome of sample testing and analysis being conducted on the 
area affected by the Mount Polley Breach; risks relating to the timely receipt of necessary approvals and consents to proceed 
with the rehabilitation plan and the Mount Polley long term water management plan; risks relating to the remaining costs and 
liabilities and any unforeseen longer-term environmental consequences arising from the Mount Polley Breach; uncertainty as 
to actual timing of completion of rehabilitation activities and the implementation of the Mount Polley long term water 
management plan; risks relating to the impact of the Mount Polley Breach on Imperial’s reputation; risks relating to mining 
operations; uncertainty regarding general economic conditions; uncertainty regarding the short-term and long-term impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s operations and investments and on the global economy and metals prices generally; 
risks associated with competition within the mining industry; the Company’s dependency on third party smelters; risks relating 
to trade barriers; the quantum of claims, fines and penalties that may become payable by Imperial and the risk that current 
sources of funds are insufficient to fund liabilities; risks that Imperial will be unsuccessful in defending against any legal claims 
or potential litigation; risks of protesting activity and other civil disobedience restricting access to the Company’s properties; 
failure of plant, equipment or processes to operate in accordance with specifications or expectations; cost escalation, 
unavailability of materials and equipment, labour unrest, power outages, and natural phenomena such as weather conditions 
and water shortages negatively impacting the operation of the Red Chris mine; changes in commodity and power prices; changes 
in market demand for our concentrate; risks that the COVID-19 pandemic may adversely affect copper prices, impact our ability 
to transport or market our concentrate, cause disruptions in our supply chains and create volatility in commodity prices and 
demand; inaccurate geological and metallurgical assumptions (including with respect to the size, grade and recoverability of 
mineral reserves and resources); uncertainty relating to mineral resource and mineral reserve estimates; uncertainty relating to 
production estimates; risks associated with mineral exploration and project development; fluctuations in exchange rates and 
interest rates; risks associated with permitting and government regulations; environmental and health and safety matters; risks 
relating to joint venture projects; risks relating to foreign operations; dependence on key management personnel; taxation risk; 
conflicts of interest; cyber threats; risks relating to the use of derivative contracts and other hazards and risks disclosed within 
this MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2020 and other public filings which are available on Imperial’s profile at sedar.com.  
For the reasons set forth above, investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking information. Imperial does not 
undertake to update any forward-looking information, except in accordance with applicable securities laws.   

 

  

http://www.sedar.com/
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND LIQUIDITY 

The Company’s audited Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes 
the Company will continue operating in the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities 
in the normal course as they come due. 

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the rapidly spreading coronavirus 2019-nCoV (“COVID-19”) 
outbreak as a global pandemic. The Company has been closely monitoring developments of the COVID-19 outbreak and has 
implemented preventive measures to ensure the safety of our workforce and local communities. Throughout the COVID-
19 pandemic, mining operations at Red Chris, the Company’s various exploration activities, and the care and maintenance 
of Mount Polley and Huckleberry have been conducted under strict guidance and directives of federal, provincial and 
regional health authorities. To date, there have been no significant disruptions to production, to the shipment of 
concentrate or to the supply chain. Changes have been implemented to our business and how we operate in order to 
minimize the risks to our employees, communities and other stakeholders. 

The Company has actively responded to the COVID-19 pandemic at operations controlled by the Company through a variety 
of means such as: 

• restricting travel; 

• shifting employees to remote work arrangements wherever possible, including at the corporate office; 

• implementing and promoting preventative measures in place at all operations, including social distancing and frequent 
handwashing; 

• adhering to the most up to date guidance from governments and public health authorities in each jurisdiction in which 
we operate; 

• implementing enhanced cleaning and disinfecting protocols; 

• eliminating group meetings; and 

• restricting employees with any potential symptoms of COVID-19 from attending Company facilities.   

The Company holds a 30% interest in the Red Chris mine through our wholly owned subsidiary. Newcrest Mining Limited 
(“Newcrest”) holds a 70% interest through its wholly owned subsidiary and is the project operator. The Company 
understands Newcrest is continuing to monitor developments and escalating global concern around the COVID-19 
pandemic, and has implemented the following precautionary measures at Red Chris by: 

• conducting blanket PCR screening and health checks for all employees, contractors, and visitors travelling to and from 
site; 

• minimizing visitor numbers; 

• implementing a three week on/three off roster which provides a full sixteen days of isolation at Red Chris, ensuring a 
lowest possible probability of virus transmission on leaving site; 

• changing out local workers in advance of fly-in/fly-out cohort of workers arriving on-site at the beginning of the roster; 

• providing paid pandemic leave; 

• maintaining hygienic practices: mask wearing, social distancing and hand washing to minimize spread of infection; 

• providing medical supplies and provisions to local Tahltan communities; 

• employing additional trained medical personnel on-site and providing enhanced medical service to local Tahltan 
communities; 

• securing helicopter and fixed wing emergency evacuation services for site personnel and local Tahltan communities; 

• providing regular written and verbal communication updates to employees on all sites, particularly on personal hygiene 
practices and what to do if they present symptoms; 

• updating local Tahltan communities on Newcrest’s current site practices in relation to COVID-19; 

• preparing business continuity plans and contingencies in the event of a significant number of operational employees and 
contractors being exposed or contracting the virus to minimise disruptions to operations; and 

• establishing an emergency management team of key management at site level. 
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The Company also understands that the Tahltan Central Government, Iskut First Nation and Tahltan Band are supportive of 
Newcrest’s implementation of this package of measures which proactively protect and support communities and enable 
Tahltan members to support their families and communities, while helping Red Chris to continue to operate during the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

As Newcrest is the operator of the Red Chris mine, the preventative measures implemented with respect to the project lie 
outside the direct control of the Company. Any violations to acts and regulations may have an adverse impact on the 
Company.    

Despite the uncertainties and changes relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, and current market conditions, we remain 
confident in the long-term outlook for our major commodities. However, the extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic 
impacts the Company’s business, including exploration, development and production activities and the market for its 
securities, will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted at this time, and include 
the duration, severity and scope of the outbreak and the actions taken to contain or treat the COVID-19 outbreak.  

The resumption of normal operating activities is highly dependent on the progression of the pandemic and the success of 
measures taken to prevent transmission, which will influence when health and government authorities remove various 
restrictions on our business activities. Even after the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided, we may continue to experience 
material adverse impacts to our business as a result of its global economic impact, including any related recession. 

Subsequent to December 31, 2020, the Company reported the following: 

On March 10, 2021, the Company entered into a $10.0 million promissory note financing (“Note”) with an affiliate of its 
major shareholder. The Note matures on April 1, 2022 and bears interest of 8.0% per annum. 

On March 15, 2021, the Company earned a 30% interest in the GJ Copper-Gold Property for a payment of $3.0 million to 
Newcrest Red Chris Mining Limited. 
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OVERVIEW 

Select Annual Financial Information 

 Years Ended December 31 
expressed in thousands, except share and per share amounts 2020 2019(3) 2018 

Continuing Operations:    
Total revenues $148,097 $71,823 $104,437 
Net loss $(4,892) $(41,224)       $(109,464) 
Net loss per share $(0.04) $(0.32)              $(0.92) 
Diluted loss per share $(0.04) $(0.32)               $(0.92) 
Adjusted net loss (1) $(5,421) $(50,310) $(68,622) 
Adjusted net loss per share (1) $(0.04) $(0.40) $(0.58) 
Adjusted EBITDA(1) $36,034 $(4,261) $(3,334) 
Cash flow (1)(2) $37,261 $(3,611) $106,468 
Cash flow per share (1)(2) $0.29 $(0.03) $0.90 

Discontinued Operations:    
Total revenues $  - $166,067 $255,736 
Net income (loss) $  - $360,671 $(16,131) 
Net income (loss) per share $  - $2.83 $(0.14) 
Diluted income (loss) per share $  - $2.83 $(0.14) 
Adjusted net income (loss) (1) $  - $39,143 $(16,141) 
Adjusted net income (loss) per share (1) $  - $0.31 $(0.13) 
Adjusted EBITDA(1) $  - $140,574 $36,602 
Cash flow (1)(2) $  - $21,503 $36,981 
Cash flow per share (1)(2) $  - $0.17 $0.31 

Working capital (deficiency) 
 deficiency  

$9,292 $53,661 $(789,470) 
Total assets $1,091,321 $1,103,488 $1,573,903 
Total debt (including current portion) $2,422 $3,816 $871,268 

(1)  Refer to table under heading Non-IFRS Financial Measures for further details.    

(2)  Cash flow is defined as the cash flow from operations before the net change in non-cash working capital balances, income and mining taxes, 
and interest paid. Cash flow per share is defined as cash flow divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the year. 

(3) Year ended 2019 has been restated to incorporate the finalization of fair values relating to the sale of Red Chris in August 2019. 

 

Select Items Affecting Net Loss (presented on an after-tax basis) 

 Years Ended December 31 
expressed in thousands 2020 2019(1)  

 Net loss before undernoted items from continuing operations $(3,559) $(15,325) 
Interest expense (1,358) (46,273) 
BC Mineral tax recovery - 11,288 
Foreign exchange gain on debt 25              10,375 
Loss on early repayment of debt -         (1,289) 

Net Loss from Continuing Operations $(4,892) $(41,224) 

(1) Year ended 2019 has been restated to incorporate the finalization of fair values relating to the sale of Red Chris in August 2019. 

  



     
 

 

Imperial Metals Corporation | Management’s Discussion & Analysis | December 31, 2020 | # 6 
 

Revenue from continuing operations increased to $148.1 million in 2020 compared to $71.8 million in 2019, an increase of 
$76.3 million or 106%.   

Revenue from the Red Chris mine in 2020 was $146.3 million compared to $35.9 million in 2019. This increase was 
attributable to the Company’s ownership decreasing to 30% from 100% on August 15, 2019. The revenue from the period 
January 1, 2019 to August 14, 2019 from Red Chris was classified as discontinued operations. There were 18.3 concentrate 
shipments in 2020 from the Red Chris mine (2019-13.2 concentrate shipments).  

Revenue from the Mount Polley mine in 2020 was $0.4 million compared to $35.2 million in 2019. The decrease was 
attributable to the mine being on care and maintenance from May 2019 onwards.  

Variations in revenue are impacted by the timing and quantity of concentrate shipments, metal prices and exchange rates, 
and period end revaluations of revenue attributed to concentrate shipments where metal prices will settle at a future date. 

The London Metals Exchange cash settlement copper price per pound averaged US$2.80 in 2020 compared to US$2.72 in 
2019. The London Metals Exchange cash settlement gold price per troy ounce averaged US$1,770 in 2020 compared to 
US$1,392 in 2019. The average US$/CDN$ exchange rate in the 2020 was 1.341 compared to an average of 1.327 in 2019. 
The average US$ strengthened by 1.1% compared to the CDN$ in 2020 over 2019. In 2020 the average copper price was 
CDN$3.76 per pound and the average gold price was CDN$2,374 per ounce compared to 2019 when the average copper 
price was CDN$3.61 per pound and the average gold price was CDN$1,847 per ounce. 

Revenue in 2020 increased by a $7.3 million revenue revaluation compared to a negative revenue revaluation of $3.3 million 
in 2019. Revenue revaluations are the result of the metal prices on the settlement date and/or the current period balance 
sheet date being higher or lower than when the revenue was initially recorded or the metal prices at the last balance sheet 
date and finalization of contained metals as a result of final assays.  

Net loss from continuing operations in 2020 was $4.9 million ($0.04 per share) compared to net loss of $41.2 million ($0.32 
per share) in 2019. The majority decrease in net loss of $36.3 million was primarily due to the following factors: 

• Loss from mine operations decreased from a loss of $7.7 million in 2019 to an income of $20.6 million in 2020, a decrease 
in net loss of $28.3 million. 

• Interest expense decreased from $46.3 million in 2019 to $1.4 million in 2020, a decrease in net loss of $44.9 million. 

• Foreign exchange gains/losses went from a gain of $10.1 million in 2019 to a loss of $0.6 million in 2020, an increase in 
net loss of $10.7 million. 

• An income and mining tax recovery of $4.0 million in 2020 compared to a recovery of $28.4 million in 2019, an increase 
in net loss of $24.4 million.   

Cash flow from continuing operations was $37.3 million in 2020 compared to negative cash flow $3.6 million in 2019. Cash 
flow is a measure used by the Company to evaluate its performance however, it is not a term recognized under IFRS.  The 
Company believes cash flow is useful to investors and is one of the measures used by management to assess the financial 
performance of the Company.  

Capital expenditures attributed to continuing operations were $73.6 million in 2020, up from $20.0 million in 2019. Red 
Chris expenditures before August 15, 2019 were classified as discontinued operations. The increase in 2020 was due to the 
inclusion of Imperial’s 30% share in Red Chris since August 15, 2019.  

At December 31, 2020, the Company had $34.0 million in cash compared to $90.0 million at December 31, 2019.      
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NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES 

The Company reports four non-IFRS financial measures: adjusted net income, adjusted EBITDA, cash flow and cash cost per 
pound of copper produced which are described in detail below. The Company believes these measures are useful to 
investors because they are included in the measures that are used by management in assessing the financial performance 
of the Company. 

Adjusted net income, adjusted EBITDA, and cash flow are not generally accepted earnings measures and should not be 
considered as an alternative to net income (loss) and cash flows as determined in accordance with IFRS. As there is no 
standardized method of calculating these measures, these measures may not be directly comparable to similarly titled 
measures used by other companies.  Reconciliations are provided below. 

Adjusted Net Loss and Adjusted Net Loss Per Share 

Adjusted net loss from continuing operations in 2020 was $5.4 million ($0.04 per share) compared to an adjusted net loss 
of $50.3 million ($0.40 per share) in 2019. Adjusted net income or loss shows the financial results excluding the effect of 
items not settling in the current period and non-recurring items. Adjusted net income or loss is calculated by removing the 
gains or loss, resulting from acquisition and disposal of property, mark to market revaluation of derivative instruments not 
related to the current period, net of tax, unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses on non-current debt, net of tax, as 
further detailed in the following table. 

Calculation of Adjusted Net Loss  
Years Ended December 31 

expressed in thousands, except share and per share amounts 2020 2019(2) 

Net loss reported from continuing operations $(4,892)    $(41,224) 
Foreign exchange gain on debt, net of tax (1) (25) (10,375) 
Insurance recovery, net of tax (426) - 
Loss on early repayment of debt, net of tax - 1,289 
Other, net of tax (14) - 

Adjusted net loss from continuing operations (5,421) (50,310) 
Adjusted net income from discontinued operations - 39,143 

Total Adjusted Net Loss Reported $(5,421) $(10,690) 

Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding 128,490,174 127,277,090 

Adjusted net loss per share from continuing operations $(0.04) $(0.40) 
Adjusted net income per share from discontinued operations  - 0.31 

Total Adjusted Net Loss Per Share $(0.04) $(0.09) 

(1) Non-current debt is recorded on the Company’s Statement of Financial Position at the foreign exchange rate in effect on that date, 
with changes in foreign exchange rates, net of taxes, flowing through net income. The amounts of non-current debt ultimately 
payable may be materially different than reflected in the financial statements due to foreign currency movements. 

(2) Year ended 2019 has been restated to incorporate the finalization of fair values relating to the sale of Red Chris in August 2019. 
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Adjusted EBITDA  

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations in 2020 was $36.0 million compared to a negative $4.3 million in 2019. We 
define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) before interest expense, taxes, depletion, and depreciation, and as adjusted 
for certain other items described in the following reconciliation table. 

Adjusted EBITDA is not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies. We believe that the 
presentation of Adjusted EBITDA is appropriate to provide additional information to investors about certain non-cash or 
unusual items that we do not expect to continue at the same level in the future, or other items that we do not believe to 
be reflective of our ongoing operating performance. We further believe that our presentation of this non-IFRS financial 
measure provides information that is useful to investors because it is an important indicator of our operations and the 
performance of our core business. 

Adjusted EBITDA is not a measurement of operating performance or liquidity under IFRS and should not be considered as 
a substitute for earnings from operations, net income or cash generated by operating activities computed in accordance 
with IFRS. Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool and therefore Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered 
as a measure of discretionary cash available to us to invest in the growth of our business.  

A reconciliation of net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA is as follows: 

 Years Ended December 31 
expressed in thousands 2020 2019(1) 

Net loss $(4,892) $(41,224) 
 Adjustments:   

Income and mining tax recovery (3,974) (28,393) 
Interest expense 1,358 46,273 
Depletion and depreciation 40,288 21,095 
Accretion of future site reclamation provisions 2,764 2,745 
Share based compensation 726 215 
Foreign exchange (gain) loss 557 (10,128) 
Revaluation gain on marketable securities (91) (253) 
Insurance recovery (671) - 
Loss on early repayment of debt - 1,766 
Fair value adjustment for debt settled in common shares - 3,328 
Other (31) 315 

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations 36,034 (4,261) 
Adjusted EBITDA from discontinued operations - 140,574 

Total Adjusted EBITDA $36,034 $136,313 

(1) Year ended 2019 has been restated to incorporate the finalization of fair values relating to the sale of Red Chris in August 2019. 
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Cash Flow and Cash Flow Per Share 

Cash flow from continuing operations in 2020 was $37.3 million compared to a negative $3.6 million in 2019. Cash flow per 
share was $0.29 in 2020 compared to $(0.03) in 2019.   

Cash flow and cash flow per share are measures used by the Company to evaluate its performance however they are not 
terms recognized under IFRS. Cash flow is defined as cash flow from operations before the net change in non-cash working 
capital balances, income and mining taxes, and interest paid and cash flow per share is the same measure divided by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. 

 Years Ended December 31 
expressed in thousands, except per share and per share amounts 2020  2019(1)  

Loss before taxes  $(8,866) $(69,617) 
Items not affecting cash flows:   

Depletion and depreciation 40,288 21,095 
Share based compensation 726 215 
Accretion of future site reclamation provisions 2,764 2,745 
Fair value adjustment for debt settled in common shares - 3,328 
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss   1,113 (9,548) 
Interest expense 1,358 46,273 
Loss on early repayment of debt - 1,766 
Other (122) 132 

Cash flow from continuing operations 37,261 (3,611) 

Cash flow from discontinued operations - 21,503 

Total Cash Flow $37,261 $17,892 

 
Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding 128,490,174 127,277,090 

Cash flow per share from continuing operations $0.29 $(0.03) 
Cash flow per share from discontinued operations - 0.17 

Total Cash Flow Per Share $0.29 $0.14 

(1) Year ended 2019 has been restated to incorporate the finalization of fair values relating to the sale of Red Chris in August 2019. 

Cash Cost Per Pound of Copper Produced 

The cash cost per pound of copper produced is a non-IFRS financial measure that does not have a standardized meaning 
under IFRS, and as a result may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. Management uses 
this non-IFRS financial measure to monitor operating costs and profitability. The Company is primarily a copper producer 
and therefore calculates this non-IFRS financial measure individually for its three copper mines, Red Chris (30% share), 
Mount Polley and Huckleberry, and on a composite basis for these mines.  

The cash cost per pound of copper produced is derived from the sum of cash production costs, transportation and offsite 
costs, treatment and refining costs, royalties, net of by-product and other revenues, divided by the number of pounds of 
copper produced during the period. 

Cash costs of production include direct labour, operating materials and supplies, equipment and mill costs, and applicable 
overhead.  Off-site costs include transportation, warehousing, marketing, related insurance and treatment and refining 
costs for smelting and refining concentrate. 

Treatment and refining costs applicable to the concentrate produced during the period are calculated in accordance with 
the contracts the Company has with its customers. 

By-product and other revenues represent (i) revenue calculated based on average metal prices for by-products produced 
during the period based on contained metal in the concentrate; and (ii) other revenues as recorded during the period. 

Cost of sales, as reported on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, includes depletion and depreciation, 
and share based compensation, non-cash items. The resulting cash costs are different than the cost of production because 
of changes in inventory levels and therefore inventory and related transportation and offsite costs are adjusted from a cost 
of sales basis to a production basis. The cash costs for copper produced are converted to US$ using the average US$ to 
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CDN$ exchange rate for the period divided by the pounds of copper produced to obtain the cash cost per pound of copper 
produced in US$. 

Variations from period to period in the cash cost per pound of copper produced are the result of many factors including:  
grade, metal recoveries, amount of stripping charged to operations, mine and mill operating conditions, labour and other 
cost inputs, transportation and warehousing costs, treatment and refining costs, the amount of by-product and other 
revenues, the US$ to CDN$ exchange rate and the amount of copper produced.  

Idle mine costs during the periods when the Huckleberry and Mount Polley mines were not in operation have been excluded 
from the cash cost per pound of copper produced. 

The following tables reconcile cost of sales as shown on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income to the cash 
cost per pound of copper produced in US$ for the three months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.  

Calculation of Cash Cost Per Pound of Copper Produced  

expressed in thousands, except cash cost per pound of copper produced Three Months Ended December 31, 2020 

  Red Chris **Mount Polley  Composite 

 A B C=A+B 

Cost of sales $38,621 $  - $38,621 
Less:     
Depletion and depreciation (8,780) - (8,780) 

Cash costs before adjustment to production basis 29,841 - 29,841 
Adjust for inventory change (5,626) - (5,626) 
Adjust transportation and offsite costs 434 - 434 
Treatment, refining and royalty costs 2,095 - 2,095 
By-product and other revenues (11,607) - (11,607) 

Cash cost of copper produced in CDN$ $15,137 $  - $15,137 

US$ to CDN$ exchange rate 1.3030 1.3030 1.3030 

Cash cost of copper produced in US$ 11,617 - 11,617 

Copper produced – pounds 5,169 - 5,169 
Cash cost per lb copper produced in US$ $2.25 $  - $2.25 
    
 Three Months Ended December 31, 2019(1) 

  *Red Chris **Mount Polley  Composite 

 A B C=A+B 

Cost of sales $30,476 $332 $30,808 
Less:     
Depletion and depreciation (7,860) - (7,860) 

Cash costs before adjustment to production basis 22,616 332 22,948 
Adjust for inventory change (2,069) - (2,069) 
Adjust transportation and offsite costs 4,234 (15) 4,219 
Treatment, refining and royalty costs 7,161 - 7,161 
By-product and other revenues (6,977) - (6,977) 

Cash cost of copper produced in CDN$ $24,965 $317 $25,282 

US$ to CDN$ exchange rate 1.3200 1.3200 1.3200 

Cash cost of copper produced in US$ $18,913 240 $19,153 

Copper produced – pounds 6,502 - 6,502 

Cash cost per lb copper produced in US$ $2.91 $0.04 $2.95 

*  The Red Chris mine was classified as a discontinued operation effective January 1, 2019 to August 14, 2019. Effective August 15, 2019, 
the results from Red Chris are presented in continuing operations on a proportional basis relative to Imperial’s 30% beneficial interest 
in the Red Chris Joint Venture.  

**  The Mount Polley mine was placed on care and maintenance on May 26, 2019. 

(1)  Three months ended December 31, 2019 has been restated to incorporate the finalization of fair values relating to the sale of Red 
Chris in August 2019. 
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The following tables reconcile cost of sales as shown on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income to the cash 
cost per pound of copper produced in US$ for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.  

Calculation of Cash Cost Per Pound of Copper Produced 

expressed in thousands, except cash cost per pound of copper produced Year Ended December 31, 2020 

 
Red Chris 

**Mount  
Polley  Composite 

 A B C=A+B 

Cost of sales $127,470 $  - $127,470 
Less:     
Depletion and depreciation (35,179) - (35,179) 

Cash costs before adjustment to production basis 92,291 - 92,291 
Adjust for inventory change (1,867) - (1,867) 
Adjust transportation and offsite costs 318 - 318 
Treatment, refining and royalty costs 10,770 - 10,770 
By-product and other revenues (50,855) - (50,855) 

Cash cost of copper produced in CDN$ $50,657 $  - $50,657 

US$ to CDN$ exchange rate 1.3412 1.3412 1.3412 

Cash cost of copper produced in US$ 37,770 - 37,770 

Copper produced – pounds 26,502 - 26,502 
Cash cost per lb copper produced in US$ $1.43 $  - $1.43 

    
 Year Ended December 31, 2019(1) 

 
*Red Chris 

**Mount  
Polley  Composite 

 A B C=A+B 

Cost of sales $192,513 $40,509 $233,022 
Less:     
Depletion and depreciation (20,377) (6,144) (26,521) 

Cash costs before adjustment to production basis 172,136 34,365 206,501 
Adjust for inventory change 5,387 - 5,387 
Adjust transportation and offsite costs 5,374 (369) 5,005 
Treatment, refining and royalty costs 27,055 1,598 28,653 
By-product and other revenues (43,723) (18,469) (62,192) 

Cash cost of copper produced in CDN$ $166,229 $17,125 $183,354 

US$ to CDN$ exchange rate 1.3268 1.3268 1.3268 

Cash cost of copper produced in US$ $125,286 $12,907 $138,193 

Copper produced – pounds 50,334 3,825 54,159 
Cash cost per lb copper produced in US$ $2.49 $3.37 $2.55 

*  The Red Chris mine was classified as a discontinued operation effective January 1, 2019 to August 14, 2019. Effective August 15, 
2019, the results from Red Chris are presented in continuing operations on a proportional basis relative to Imperial’s 30% beneficial 
interest in the Red Chris Joint Venture.  

** The Mount Polley mine was placed on care and maintenance on May 26, 2019. 

(1) Year ended 2019 has been restated to incorporate the finalization of fair values relating to the sale of Red Chris in August 2019. 
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DEVELOPMENTS DURING 2020 

OPERATIONS   

The current impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business is described under Significant Events & Liquidity. The 
Company’s plans for 2021 and beyond could be adversely impacted by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.  The 
continuing impact of COVID-19 to travel and other operating restrictions established to curb the spread of COVID-19, could 
materially and adversely impact the Company’s current plans by causing a temporary closure of the Red Chris mine, 
suspending planned exploration work, causing an economic slowdown resulting in a decrease in the demand for copper 
and gold, negatively impacting copper and gold prices, impacting the Company’s ability to transport or market the 
Company’s concentrate or causing disruptions in the Company’s supply chains. 

Red Chris Mine  

Red Chris mine 2020 metals production was 88.3 million pounds copper, 73,787 ounces gold, and 176,376 ounces silver.  
All metal production in 2020 increased over 2019 totals. Gold production increased over 100% as a result of higher grades. 
Imperial’s 30% portion of the production 26.5 million pounds copper, 22,136 ounces gold, and 52,913 ounces silver.  

Annual Production for the Year Ended December 31 2020 2019 

Ore milled - tonnes                    9,381,881 10,430,762 
Ore milled per calendar day - tonnes 25,634 28,577 
Grade %  - copper 0.529 0.412 
Grade g/t  - gold 0.451 0.244 
Recovery %  - copper 80.7 76.0 
Recovery %  - gold 54.2 44.5 
Copper – 000’s pounds 88,343 71,880 
Gold – ounces 73,787 36,471 
Silver – ounces  176,376 133,879 

* 100% Red Chris mine production 

A pre-feasibility study has been initiated by Newcrest on the development of an underground block cave mining operation 
at Red Chris. The study is expected to be delivered to the Joint Venture this summer. Newcrest is also planning to complete 
a feasibility study following completion of the pre-feasibility study with completion anticipated for mid-2022.  

As an initial step, an exploration decline will be constructed to provide access for underground drilling to provide more 
detailed geological and geotechnical information on the initial block cave.  

With the exploration results to date outlining higher grade pods within the deep east zone mineralization, and the 
exploration decline passing near the high grade pods, the potential for underground mining by a method other than block 
caving (early mining) is being considered as part of the pre-feasibility study. This early mining of a high grade pod is a key 
opportunity which could accelerate the timeline for the first underground ore to the mill, and bring cashflow from the 
underground mine forward. Early mining plans will require more definition of the high grade pod being considered for 
early mining. Additional drilling will be completed at approximate 50 metre spacing from the center of the drill hole pierce 
points into the mineralization. 

In the plant, additional cleaner flotation capacity is being installed to further increase metal recoveries. 

Imperial’s 30% share of exploration, development, and capital expenditures were $73.2 million in 2020 compared to $42.5 
million in 2019 (from August 15, 2019 to December 31, 2019). 

  



     
 

 

Imperial Metals Corporation | Management’s Discussion & Analysis | December 31, 2020 | # 13 
 

Mount Polley Mine  

Mount Polley operations ceased in May 2019, and the mine remains on care and maintenance status. However, the mine 
restart plan prepared in 2019 is being updated to include revised pit designs, results of recent drilling, and current metal 
prices. The COVID-19 pandemic has had an impact on mine restart scenarios, however, the vaccine distribution is 
anticipated to mitigate this risk. When the revised restart plan has been updated and the Province wide vaccine distribution 
is complete, the Company will seek to secure financing to fund restart of the mine. 

Site personnel continue to maintain access, fire watch, manage collection, treatment and discharge of site contact water, 
and actively monitor the tailings storage facility.   

During 2020, the Mount Polley mine incurred idle mine costs comprised of $12.3 million in operating costs and $4.3 million 
in depreciation expense.  

Exploration, development, and capital expenditures were $0.9 million in 2020 compared to $5.4 million in 2019. 

Huckleberry Mine  

Huckleberry operations ceased in August 2016, and the mine remains on care and maintenance status. Activities at the 
mine site during its closure have focused on maintaining access, water management (treatment and release of mine contact 
water into Tahtsa Reach), snow removal, maintenance of site infrastructure and equipment, mine permit compliance, 
updating the life of mine plan, environmental compliance monitoring, and monitoring tailings management facilities. 

A mine restart plan is under development for Huckleberry, which will reflect recent drilling and current metal prices. The 
COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the mine restart timeline, however, the vaccine distribution is anticipated to mitigate 
this risk. As with Mount Polley, the Company will seek to secure financing to fund restart of the mine following completion 
of the Province wide vaccine distribution. The Company anticipates the restart of Huckleberry will follow the start of 
operations at Mount Polley. 

During 2020, Huckleberry incurred idle mine costs comprised of $5.0 million in operating costs and $0.7 million in 
depreciation expense.  

Exploration, development, and capital expenditures were $0.9 million in 2020 compared to $nil million in 2019. 
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EXPLORATION   

Mount Polley   

The 2020 exploration program at Mount Polley focused on improving drill hole data density of mineralization near historic 
mining areas where the use of underground mining is being considered and drilling of new geophysical and geochemical 
anomalies outlined by recent surveys in the Trio Creek area located north and northwest of the mine. Six drill holes totalling 
3,792 metres were completed. 

The WX zone is the most recent major discovery (2009) at Mount Polley. Located south of the Springer pit, it is noted for its 
high gold grades and high gold/copper ratio mineralization. Drill hole WX-20-78 was designed test and confirm the 
continuity of the mineralization in an area of proposed underground mining.  Drilled down the plunge, this hole served to 
confirm the continuity of this modelled higher grade target within the WX zone.  

The C2 zone is located south of the Cariboo pit. Two holes were drilled to test a zone of higher gold grade along the Polley 
fault at depth. Historic drilling in this zone yielded an intercept of 55 metres grading 2.14 g/t gold and 1.19% copper in drill 
hole C2-11-97.  Both holes were successful in extending this lower gold zone. 

Drill hole SD-20-162 was designed to fill a gap in drilling on the eastern side of the target area beneath the Springer pit. The 
Springer zone contains most of the reserves in the current open pit mine plan. Historic drilling beneath the currently planned 
Springer pit confirmed the mineralization continues for at least 250 metres below the pit bottom. Studies are underway to 
evaluate the potential for bulk underground mining beneath the planned pit.   

The Trio Creek target area is located north and northwest of the mine. This area is covered by glacial till with limited bedrock 
exposure. Using new geophysical and geochemical anomalies outlined by recent surveys, the goal was to gain an 
understanding of the geological system. Drill holes TC-20-01 and TC-20-02 were designed to test new anomalies north and 
west of the mine. The targeted areas feature favorable geophysics that match the geophysical fingerprint of the Mount 
Polley mineralized host rock.   

Additional exploration is planned for 2021 to further define these targets.    

Huckleberry   

In 2020, a drill program to test the East zone at depth was designed to evaluate the deposit where the majority of historic 
drill holes were stopped at a depth of 300 m while still in copper mineralization. Mining at the East zone only went to a 
depth of about 200 metres. Between 1997 and 2007, the East zone pit provided high grade mill feed of approximately 50 
million tonnes ore grading 0.55% copper. Mining to 2016 was from two zones of mineralization, the East and Main zones, 
with the East zone containing the higher-grade copper mineralization.  

Three drill holes totaling 2,491 m were completed. Drill results confirmed that copper mineralization continues to significant 
depths below the East zone pit and historic drilling.  Additional drilling will be necessary to further define and expand the 
limits of the East zone copper deposit.   

In addition, a Volterra 3-Dimensional Induced Polarization survey was conducted over the East zone to produce a 
geophysical signature over zones of known mineralization and enhance the geological model and ore controls. The data will 
be interpreted and used to locate new drill targets.  

Greenfield Projects 

Exploration was conducted at the Giant Copper and LJ greenfield properties during 2020.   

At the Giant Copper property, a portable diamond drill was used for a series of six holes, covering an area approximately 
10 square metres. All the drill holes were terminated by caving or the depth limitations of the portable diamond drill and 
ended in the mineralization.  Follow up drilling is planned for 2021 pending authorization of a Notice of Work. 

At the L J property, diamond blade saw channel sampling was conducted over a width of 90 metres, over new extensions 
of the massive sulfide occurrence recently exposed by glacial melt back. Additional work is planned for 2021. 
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES  

Significant Accounting Policies 

Joint Ventures 

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject 
to joint control and whereby each party has rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint control is considered to exist 
when all parties to the joint arrangement are required to reach unanimous consent over decisions about relevant business 
activities pertaining to the contractual arrangement. Interests in joint ventures are recognized as an investment and 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 

Joint Operations 

A joint operation is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject 
to joint control and whereby each party has rights to the assets and liabilities relating to the arrangement. Joint control is 
considered to exist when all parties to the joint arrangement are required to reach unanimous consent over decisions about 
relevant business activities pertaining to the contractual arrangement. Interests in joint operations are accounted for by 
recognizing the Company’s share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses incurred jointly. 

Joint Operations Without Sharing Control 

The Company participates in an unincorporated arrangement and has rights to its share of the undivided assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses of the property, subject to the arrangement, rather than a right to a net return, and does not share 
joint control. All such amounts are measured in accordance with the terms of the arrangement, which is based on the 
Company’s proportionate interest in the asset, liabilities, revenues and expenditures of the property and recorded in the 
financial statements in the appropriate line items according to their nature. The Company’s proportionate share includes 
certain adjustments to ensure consistency of accounting policies with those of the Company. 

Business Combinations and Goodwill  

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling 
interests (“NCI”) in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Company elects whether to measure the NCI in the 
acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are 
expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.  

When the Company acquires a business, it assesses the assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date. Mineral reserves, resources and exploration potential that can be reliably measured are recognized 
separately in the assessment of fair values on acquisition. Other potential reserves, resources and rights, for which fair 
values cannot be reliably measured, are not recognized separately, but instead are subsumed in goodwill.  

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition-date 
fair value, and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. It 
is then considered in the determination of goodwill.  

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IFRS 
9 is measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9 is 
measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.  

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognized for NCI over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Company reassesses whether it 
has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to 
measure the amounts to be recognized at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value 
of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income.  
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After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, if any. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Company’s cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other 
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.  

Inventory 

Copper concentrates, inclusive of contained gold and silver, and costs associated with stockpile ore are valued on a first in first 
out basis at the lower of production cost to produce saleable metal and net realizable value.  Net realizable value is calculated 
as described under “Revenue Recognition”. Production costs include direct labour, operating materials and supplies, 
transportation costs and applicable overhead, and depletion and depreciation.  

Stores and supplies inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes acquisition cost and any 
directly related costs, including freight. 

The portion of the ore stockpile and supplies that are to be processed/used more than 12 months from the reporting date and 
critical spare items, which might impact production if unavailable, are classified as other assets. 

Materials and supplies are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Any provision for obsolescence is determined by 
reference to specific items of stock and a general allowance for obsolescence. A regular review is undertaken to determine the 
extent of any provision for obsolescence. 

Mineral Properties 

Mineral properties represent capitalized expenditures related to the development of mining properties, related plant and 
equipment, expenditures related to exploration activities and expenditures arising from property acquisitions.  Capitalized costs 
include interest and financing costs for amounts borrowed to develop mining properties and construct facilities, and operating 
costs, net of revenues, incurred prior to the commencement of commercial production. 

The costs associated with mineral properties are separately allocated to reserves, resources and exploration potential, and 
include acquired interests in production, development and exploration stage properties representing the fair value at the time 
they were acquired. The value associated with resources and exploration potential is the value beyond proven and probable 
reserves assigned through acquisition. The value allocated to reserves is depleted on a unit-of-production method over the 
estimated recoverable proven and probable reserves at the mine. The reserve value is noted as mineral properties being 
depleted. 

The resource value represents the property interests that are contained in the measured and indicated resources that are not 
within the proven and probable reserves. Exploration potential is (i) mineralization included in inferred resources; (ii) areas of 
potential mineralization not included in any resource category. 

Resource value and exploration potential value is noted as mineral properties not being depleted.  At least annually or when 
otherwise appropriate and subsequent to its review and evaluation for impairment, value from the non-depletable category is 
transferred to the depletable category if resources or exploration potential have been converted into reserves. 

Capitalized costs for mineral properties being depleted are depleted by property using the unit-of-production method over the 
estimated recoverable proven and probable reserves at the mines to which they relate. 

Commencement of Commercial Production 

On the commencement of commercial production, net costs are charged to operations using the unit-of-production method by 
property based upon estimated recoverable reserves.  Management considers a number of factors related to the ability of a 
property to operate at its design capacity over a specified period of time in determining when a property has reached 
commercial production. These factors include production levels as intended by management, plant throughput quantities, 
recovery rates, and number of uninterrupted days of production. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Capitalized 
costs include the fair value of consideration given to acquire or construct an asset, capitalized interest related to that asset and 
includes the direct charges associated with bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for placing it into use along 
with the future cost of dismantling and removing the asset.  
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When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

The costs of major overhauls of parts of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is 
probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company, and its cost can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 
equipment are recognized in income or loss as incurred. 

Milling equipment and related buildings, intangible assets used in production, and tailings facilities are depleted on a unit-
of-production basis over the estimated recoverable proven and probable reserves at the mines to which they relate. 

Mobile mine equipment and vehicles are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets either on a unit-of-production 
basis or using the straight line method with useful lives of 4-12 years. Office, computer and communications equipment are 
depreciated using the straight line method with useful lives of 4-5 years. The estimated residual value and useful lives are 
reassessed at each year end and depreciation expense is adjusted on a prospective basis. 

Stripping Costs 

Costs associated with the removal of overburden and rock that are incurred in the production phase of mining operations are 
included in the cost of the inventory produced in the period in which they are incurred, except when the charges represent a 
betterment to the mineral property. Charges represent a betterment to the mineral property when the stripping activity 
provides access to reserves that will be produced in future periods that would not have been accessible without the stripping 
activity. When charges are deferred in relation to a betterment, the charges are amortized over the reserve accessed by the 
stripping activity using the unit-of-production method as these reserves will directly benefit from the deferred stripping costs 
incurred.  

Assessment of Impairment 

Management reviews the carrying value of exploration and evaluation properties at the end of each reporting period for 
evidence of impairment. This review is generally made with reference to timing of exploration work, work programs proposed, 
and the exploration results achieved by the Company and by others in the related area of interest.  

Post-feasibility exploration properties, producing mining properties and plant and equipment are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period for evidence of impairment at the cash generating unit (CGU) level.  A CGU is defined as the smallest identifiable 
group of assets that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of 
assets.  If any such indication exists, the entity shall estimate the recoverable amount of the CGU to determine if it exceeds the 
CGU’s carrying value.   

The recoverable amount for a CGU is the greater of the fair value less cost of disposal (FVLCD) and the value in use.  Fair value 
less cost of disposal is the amount that would be received by the Company to sell a CGU in a transaction between arms-length 
parties less any costs directly attributable to the disposal of the CGU.  Value in use is the present value of future cash flows 
expected to be derived by the Company from the CGU, which is estimated using discounted cash flow techniques.  When it is 
not possible to determine fair value less cost of disposal by quotes from an active market, a written offer to purchase the CGU, 
or a binding sales agreement to purchase the CGU, the Company estimates the fair value less cost of disposal using discounted 
cash flow techniques.  Resources in the measured and indicated categories are valued using estimated fair values based on 
market transactions.  

Discounted cash flow techniques are dependent on a number of factors, including future metal prices, the amount of reserves, 
resources and exploration potential, the cost of bringing the project into production, production schedules, production costs, 
sustaining capital expenditures, and future site reclamation costs. Additionally, the reviews take into account factors such as 
political, social, legal and environmental regulations. These factors may change due to changing economic conditions or the 
accuracy of certain assumptions and, hence, affect the recoverable amount. The Company uses its best efforts in assessing these 
factors. 

Post-feasibility exploration properties, producing mining properties and plant and equipment that have been impaired in prior 
periods are tested for evidence of possible impairment reversal whenever events or significant changes in circumstances indicate 
that the impairment may have been reversed. Indicators of a potential reversal of an impairment loss mainly mirror the 
indicators present when the impairment was originally recorded 

An impairment loss or reversal thereof is recognized in income or loss to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds or is below 
the recoverable amount. 
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Leases 

• Right-of-use assets. The Company recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date 
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes 
the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Company is reasonably certain to obtain ownership 
of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of its 
estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. 

• Lease liabilities. At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes lease liabilities measured at the 
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including 
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a 
rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise 
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating 
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do 
not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers 
the payment occurs. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses the incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the 
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a 
change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase 
the underlying asset.  

• Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its 
short-term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition 
exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

• Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options. The Company determines the 
lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease 
if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably 
certain not to be exercised. The Company applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise 
the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the 
renewal. After the commencement date, the Company reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change 
in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew (e.g., 
a change in business strategy).  

Future Site Reclamation Costs 

The Company’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various statutory, contractual or legal obligations for 
protection of the environment. At the date the obligation is incurred, the Company records a liability, discounted to net 
present value, for the best estimate of future costs to retire an asset including costs for dismantling, remediation and 
ongoing treatment and monitoring of the site.  The present value is determined using a pre-tax risk free interest rate. The 
liability is accreted over time to the estimated amount ultimately payable through periodic charges to income or loss. The 
estimated present value of the future site reclamation costs are reviewed for material changes at each reporting date and 
re-measured at least annually or when there are significant changes in the assumptions giving rise to the estimated cash 
flows. 

Future site reclamation costs are capitalized as part of the carrying value of the related mineral property at its initial 
discounted value and amortized over the useful life of the mineral property using the unit-of-production method.  
Subsequent changes to future site reclamation costs are recorded with a corresponding change to the carrying amounts of 
related mineral property. 
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Income and Mining Taxes 

The Company accounts for income and mining taxes using the liability method.  Under this method, deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities are recorded based on temporary differences between the financial reporting basis of the Company’s 
assets and liabilities and their corresponding tax basis. The future benefits of deferred tax assets, including unused tax losses 
and tax credits, are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against the deductible 
temporary difference and the tax loss and tax credits can be utilized.  These deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to apply when the tax liabilities or assets are 
to be either settled or realized.   

In a business combination, temporary differences arise as a result of differences in the fair values of identifiable assets and 
liabilities acquired and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the tax effects of 
these differences. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized for temporary differences arising from goodwill or 
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities acquired in a transaction other than a business combination which does 
not affect either accounting or taxable income or loss. Government assistance, including investment tax credits, is credited 
against the expenditure generating the assistance when it is probable that the government assistance will be realized. 

Revenue Recognition 

The revenue from sale of concentrate is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration that the Company expects 
to receive. The Company established a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers: to 
identify the contract(s) with the customer, identify the performance obligations in the contract, determine the transaction 
price, allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation and recognize revenue as each performance obligation 
is satisfied. The Company exercises judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances when 
applying each step of revenue recognition model to contracts with customers. 

The revenue from the sale of concentrate is recognized at the point in time when control of the concentrate passes to the 
customer which occurs when title transfer to the customer and on the date of shipment. 

Revenue is recorded in the statement of income and comprehensive income net of treatment and refining costs and 
royalties paid to counterparties under terms of the off take arrangements. The estimated revenue is recorded based on 
metal prices and exchange rates on the date of shipment and is adjusted at each reporting date to the metal prices at the 
date of settlement.  The actual amounts will be reflected in revenue upon final settlement, which could be as long as four 
to five months after the date of shipment. These adjustments reflect changes in metal prices and changes in quantities 
arising from final weight and assay calculations. The adjustments are constrained and are only recognized to the extent that 
it is highly probable that a significant reversal of in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur.  

Financial Assets 

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at either amortized cost or fair value 
through profit or loss, depending on the classification of the financial assets.  

The classification of assets is driven by the Company’s business model for managing financial assets and their contractual 
cash flow characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them. Trade receivables that do not contain a 
significant financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient for contracts that have a 
maturity of a year or less, are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with revenue 
recognition accounting policy. For other financial assets, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value 
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transactions costs. The Company records the fair 
value of marketable securities at the reporting date using quoted market prices. 

The Company has categorized its financial assets in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard 9, Financial 
Instruments (“IFRS 9”) into one of the following two categories: 

Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 

Includes equity investments, gold and copper price contract assets, gold and copper swap contracts, copper forward 
contracts, and other financial assets designated to this category under the fair value option. The Company has assessed the 
contractual cash flows of its provisionally priced contracts in accordance with IFRS 9 and has classified these receivables as 
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 
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Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 

Includes cash, future site reclamation deposits and trade receivables at amortized cost. 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the date of the 
statement of financial position. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the last bid price 
of the day. 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are subject to an allowance for expected credit losses based on the historic 
experience realizing these assets and information available about the probability of future collection. The Company applies 
a simplified lifetime expected credit loss model to measure expected credit losses for trade and other receivables that are 
not measured at FVTPL.  

Impairment losses are recognized in income or loss in the period they occur based on the difference between the carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

The Company recognizes an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for its financial instruments with a corresponding 
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account. 

Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are accounted for at amortized cost except for those at FVTPL which includes liabilities designated as 
FVTPL and derivatives. Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL or those which are designated as FVTPL under the fair value 
option are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized in net earnings. In cases where financial 
liabilities are designated as FVTPL, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other 
comprehensive income rather than the statements of operations. Financial liabilities at amortized cost are initially 
measured at fair value net of transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortized cost. 

The Company has classified its financial liabilities in accordance with IFRS 9 into one of the following two categories: 

Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 

Includes settlement payables related to copper price option contract liabilities. 

Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost 

Includes trade and other payables and long‐term debt. 

Foreign Currency Translation 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Company’s subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). Foreign currency transactions are 
translated into the functional currency using the actual rate prevailing at the date of transaction. Each reporting period 
foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities not denominated in the functional currency of the entity are recognized in the statement of income 
and comprehensive income.  

Assets and liabilities of entities with functional currencies other than Canadian dollars are translated at the period end rates 
of exchange, and the results of their operations are translated at the actual rate prevailing at the date of transaction. Equity 
is translated at historical cost. The resulting translation adjustments are included in currency translation adjustment in other 
comprehensive income. Additionally, foreign exchange gains and losses related to the settlement of certain intercompany 
loans are also included in equity as the settlement of these loans is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable 
future. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to debt are presented in the statement of income and comprehensive income 
within “Finance Costs”. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of income and 
comprehensive income within “General and Administration”. 

Reportable Segment Information 

The Company’s operations are primarily directed towards the exploration, development and production from its mineral 
properties in Canada. The Company has five reportable segments, Red Chris, including related exploration and development 
activities, Mount Polley, including related exploration and development activities, Huckleberry, including related 
exploration and development activities, Sterling, including related exploration and development activities and Corporate, 
including all other properties and related exploration and development activities.  
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Share Based Payments 

The Company has a share option plan that provides all option holders the right to receive common shares in exchange for 
the options exercised.  The fair value of each option award that will ultimately vest is estimated on the date of grant using 
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Compensation expense is determined when stock options are granted and 
recognized in operations over the vesting period of the option.  Consideration received on the exercise of stock options is 
recorded as share capital and the related share-based amounts of contributed surplus are credited to share capital. 

Borrowing Costs 

The Company expenses borrowing costs when they are incurred, unless they are directly attributable to the acquisition of 
mineral properties or construction of property, plant and equipment extending over a period of more than twelve months. 

Income (Loss) Per Common Share 

Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the period.  Diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed in accordance with the treasury stock method 
and “if converted” method, as applicable, which uses the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during 
the period and also includes the dilutive effect of potentially issuable common shares from outstanding stock options, 
warrants and convertible debentures.  

Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
judgments and estimates and form assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. On an ongoing basis, 
management evaluates its judgments and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management 
uses historical experience and various other factors it believes to be reasonable under the given circumstances as the basis 
for its judgments and estimates. Actual outcomes may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and 
conditions. 

(i) Critical Judgments 

Critical judgments exercised in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized 
in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

Revenue Recognition 

Determination of performance obligations. The Company applied judgement to determine if a good or service that is 
promised to a customer is distinct based on whether the customer can benefit from the good or service on its own or 
together with other readily available resources and whether the good or service is separately identifiable. Based on these 
criteria, the Company determined the primary performance obligation relating to its sales contracts is the delivery of the 
concentrates. Shipping and insurance services arranged by the Company for its concentrate sales customers that occur after 
the transfer of control are also considered to be performance obligations.  

Transfer of control. Judgement is required to determine when transfer of control occurs relating to the sale of the 
Company’s concentrate to its customers. Management based its assessment on a number of indicators of control, which 
include, but are not limited to whether the Company has present right of payment, and whether the physical possession of 
the goods, significant risks and rewards and legal title have been transferred to the customer.  

Variable consideration. Variable consideration should only be recognized to the extent that it is highly probable that a 
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. The Company identified a variable 
component of its revenue for concentrate sales relating to adjustments to the final sales price based on differences between 
the original and final assay results relating to the quantity and quality of concentrate shipments. Based on the Company ’s 
proficiency in its assaying process, evidenced by the insignificant amount of historical adjustments from the initial to final 
assays, the Company concluded the variability in consideration caused by assaying results was negligible. Therefore, the 
Company does not expect a significant amount of reversal in revenue related to assaying differences.  

  



     
 

 

Imperial Metals Corporation | Management’s Discussion & Analysis | December 31, 2020 | # 22 
 

Impairment of Mineral Properties  

Both external and internal information is reviewed and considered by management in their assessment of whether there 
are indicators that mineral properties and goodwill are impaired. External sources of information include changes in the 
market, economic and legal environment, in which the Company operates, that are not within its control and affect the 
recoverable amount of its mineral properties, plant and equipment. The internal sources of information include the manner 
in which mineral properties, plant and equipment are being used or are expected to be used and indications of economic 
performance of assets. In determining the recoverable amounts of producing mineral properties and goodwill management 
estimates the discounted future pre-tax cash flows expected to be derived from the Company’s producing mineral 
properties. Reductions in commodity prices, increases in estimated future production and capital costs, reductions in 
mineral reserves and exploration potential and adverse economic events can result in impairment charges.  In determining 
the economic recoverability and probability of future economic benefit of non-producing mineral properties management 
also considers geological information, likelihood of conversion of resources to reserves, estimated market values of 
measured and indicated resources, scoping and feasibility studies, permitting, infrastructure, development costs, and life 
of mine plans.  

Interests in Other Entities 

As part of its process in determining the classification of its interests in other entities, the Company applies judgment in 
interpreting these interests such as  

• the determination of the level of control or significant influence held by the Company;  
• the accounting standard’s applicability to the operations;  
• the legal structure and contractual terms of the arrangement;  
• concluding whether the Company has rights to assets and liabilities or to net assets of the arrangement; and  
• when relevant, other facts and circumstances. 

The Company has determined that Newcrest Red Chris Joint Venture represent joint operations without sharing control and 
Ruddock Creek Joint Venture is joint operations with shared control. 

Functional Currency 

The functional currency for each of the Company’s subsidiaries is the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates.  The Canadian dollar is the functional currency for all operations of the Company except for the 
Company’s US subsidiary which uses the US dollar as its functional currency. Determination of the functional currency 
involves certain judgments to determine the primary economic environment of each entity. If events and conditions in this 
environment change then the Company may need to reconsider the functional currency of these entities.  

Contingencies  

Contingencies can be either possible assets or liabilities arising from past events which, by their nature, will be resolved 
only when one or more uncertain future events occur or fail to occur. Such contingencies include, but are not limited to, 
environmental obligations, litigation, regulatory proceedings, tax matters and losses results from other events and 
developments. The assessment of the existence and potential impact of contingencies inherently involves the exercise of 
significant judgement regarding the outcome of future events. 

 (ii)  Critical Estimates and Assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year, are described below: 

Reserve and Resource Estimates  

The Company estimates its reserves and resources based on information compiled by Qualified Persons as defined in accordance 
with Canadian Securities Administrators National Instrument 43-101 Standards for Disclosure of Mineral Projects. There are 
numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating reserves and resources, including many factors beyond the Company’s control.  
Assumptions used in estimating reserves and resources include the forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production 
and capital costs, recovery rates and judgments used in engineering and geological interpretation of available data.   
Assumptions that are valid at the time of estimation may change significantly when new information becomes available. 
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Estimated reserves are used in the calculation of depreciation and depletion, impairment assessment on mineral properties and 
goodwill, assessment of life of pit stripping ratios and for forecasting the timing of future site reclamation costs. Therefore, 
changes in the estimates and assumptions used to determine reserves could have a material effect in the future on the 
Company’s financial position and results of operations. 

Depletion and Depreciation of Mineral Properties 

Depletion and depreciation of mineral properties is based on the estimated mineral reserves for each mineral property 
subject to depletion and estimated useful lives and depreciation rates for property, plant and equipment. Should asset life, 
depletion rates or depreciation rates differ from the initial estimate then this would impact the carrying value of the assets 
resulting in the adjustment being recognized in the consolidated statement of income.   

Stripping Costs 

The determination of costs associated with the removal of overburden and rock involve estimates related to whether or not 
these costs represent a betterment to the mineral property. Management uses several factors to determine whether to 
capitalize stripping costs including quantity and grade of materials being accessed, estimated future commodity prices, operating 
costs and life of mine plan. If any of these factors change then the determination of which materials are included in stripping 
costs may change resulting in higher mine operating costs in future periods. 

Future Site Reclamation Provisions 

Future site reclamation provisions represent management’s estimate of the present value of future cash outflows required 
to settle estimated reclamation obligations at the end of a mine’s life. The provision incorporates estimated future costs, 
inflation, and risks associated with the future cash outflows, discounted at the risk free rate for the future cash outflows. 
Changes in any of these factors can result in a change to future site reclamation provisions and the related accretion of 
future site reclamation provisions. Changes to future site reclamation provisions are charged or credited to mineral 
properties and may result in changes to future depletion expense.  

Provision for Rehabilitation Costs 

The provision for rehabilitation costs represents management’s estimate of the future cash outflows required to settle the 
estimated rehabilitation costs related to the August 4, 2014 Mount Polley mine tailings dam breach. The provision 
incorporates the Company’s estimate of costs for rehabilitation, including geotechnical investigations, environmental 
monitoring, community relations, communications and related corporate support costs. The provision is based on the scope 
and timing of work as determined by the Company in consultation with regulatory agencies and incorporates the risks 
associated with each activity. Changes in any of these factors can result in a change to the provision for rehabilitation costs.  

Income Taxes 

In determining tax assets and liabilities and related tax expense management makes estimates of future taxable income, 
tax rates, expected timing of reversals of existing temporary differences and the likelihood that tax returns as filed by the 
Company will be assessed by taxation authorities as filed. Recoveries of deferred tax assets require management to assess 
the likelihood that the Company will generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to recognize the deferred tax 
assets. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing 
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the 
ability of the Company to realize the deferred tax assets could be impacted. 

Share Based Compensation 

The Company used the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model for valuation of share based compensation. This pricing model 
requires the input of subjective assumptions including expected price volatility, interest rate and estimated forfeiture rate. 
Changes in these assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate of share based compensation and the related 
equity accounts of the Company. 

New Standards, Interpretations and Amendments    

The Company has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet 
effective.  

 

 



     
 

 

Imperial Metals Corporation | Management’s Discussion & Analysis | December 31, 2020 | # 24 
 

 

Mount Polley Mine 

 

  



     
 

 

Imperial Metals Corporation | Management’s Discussion & Analysis | December 31, 2020 | # 25 
 

RESULTS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS FOR 2020 COMPARED TO 2019 

This review of the results of operations should be read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements 
of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. 

Overview 

Revenues from continuing operations increased to $148.1 million in 2020 compared to $71.8 million in 2019, an increase 
of $76.3 million. Variations in revenue are impacted by the timing and quantity of concentrate shipments, metal prices and 
exchange rates, and period end revaluations of revenue attributed to concentrate shipments where copper and gold prices 
will settle at a future date.  

Net loss from continuing operations in 2020 was $4.9 million ($0.04 per share) compared to net loss of $41.2 million ($0.32 
per share) in 2019. The decrease in net loss of $36.3 million was primarily due to the following factors: 

• Mine operations went from a loss of $7.7 million in 2019 to an income of $20.6 million in 2020, a decrease in net loss of 
$28.3 million. 

• Interest expense went from $46.3 million in 2019 to $1.4 million in 2020, a decrease in net loss of $44.9 million. 

• Foreign exchange went from a gain of $10.1 million in 2019 to a loss of $0.6 million in 2020, an increase in net loss of 
$10.7 million. 

• Tax recovery went from $28.4 million in 2019 to $4.0 million in 2020, an increase in net loss of $24.4 million. 

The average US$/CDN$ Dollar exchange rate in 2020 was 1.341 compared to an average of 1.327 in 2019. 
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Revenue 
expressed in thousands of dollars, except quantity amounts 2020 2019(1) 

Revenue from continuing operations before revaluation  $140,806 $72,657 
Revenue revaluations from continuing operations 7,291 (834) 

Revenue from continuing operations 148,097 71,823 
   
Revenue from discontinued operations - 168,564 
Revenue revaluation from discontinued operations - (2,497) 

Revenue from discontinued operations - 166,067 

Total Revenue $148,097 $237,890 

(1) Year ended 2019 has been restated to incorporate the finalization of fair values relating to the sale of Red Chris in August 2019. 

expressed in thousands of dollars, except quantity amounts Year Ended December 31, 2020 
 Red Chris  

Mine 
Mount Polley 

Mine Total 

Sales    
Copper – 000’s pounds  27,151 - 27,151 
Gold – ounces  22,430 - 22,430 
Silver – ounces  54,064 - 54,064 

Revenue    
Copper $93,921 $  - $93,921 
Gold 51,313 - 51,313 
Silver 1,058 - 1,058 

 $146,292 $  - $146,292 

Corporate and Other    1,805 

Total Revenue   $148,097 

 

expressed in thousands of dollars, except quantity amounts Year Ended December 31, 2019(1) 

 **Red Chris  
Mine 

Mount Polley 
Mine Total 

Sales    
Copper – 000’s pounds  50,283 4,584 54,867 
Gold – ounces  25,510 12,577 38,087 
Silver – ounces  88,365 13,700 102,065 

Revenue 
   

Copper $157,453 $15,711 $173,164 
Gold 44,068 18,965 63,033 
Silver 413 273 686 

 $201,934 $34,949 $236,883 

Corporate and Other    1,007 

Total Revenue   $237,890 

** The Red Chris mine was classified as a discontinued operation effective January 1, 2019 to August 14, 2019. Effective August 15, 2019, 
the results from Red Chris are presented in continuing operations on a proportional basis relative to Imperial’s 30% ownership in the 
Red Chris Joint Venture.  

(1)  Year ended 2019 has been restated to incorporate the finalization of fair values relating to the sale of Red Chris in August 2019. 

During 2020, the Company sold 27.2 million pounds copper and 22,430 ounces gold compared to 54.9 million pounds copper 
and 38,087 ounces gold in 2019. Total revenue during 2020 was $148.1 million compared to $237.9 million during 2019.  

During 2020, the Red Chris mine had 18.3 concentrate shipments (2019-13.2 concentrate shipments). The Company’s 
revenue was derived primarily from the sale of copper and gold in concentrate from the Red Chris mine.  Copper accounted 
for 63.4% and gold accounted for 34.6% of the Company’s revenue. 
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The following information only contains financial results from continuing operations. Prior year comparatives have been 
restated accordingly. 

Cost of Sales 

expressed in thousands of dollars 2020 2019(1) 

Operating expenses $69,745 $45,022 
Salaries, wages and benefits 22,546 18,591 
Depletion and depreciation 35,179 15,944 

 $127,470 $79,557 

   

(1) Year ended 2019 has been restated to incorporate the finalization of fair values relating to the sale of Red Chris in August 2019. 

Cost of sales for 2020 was $127.5 million compared to $79.6 million in 2019 due to the following major factors:  

• operating expenses and salaries, wages and benefits for 2020 were $92.3 million compared to $63.6 million in 2019;  
• depletion and depreciation for 2020 was $35.2 million compared to $15.9 million in 2019;  
• included in cost of sales for 2020 are inventory impairment charges in relation to stockpile ore, concentrate inventory 

and supplies inventory of $1.2 million compared to $4.3 million in 2019.  

Interest Expense 

expressed in thousands of dollars 2020 2019 

Interest on non-current debt $144 $37,569 
Other interest 1,214 8,704 

 $1,358 $46,273 

Interest expense decreased to $1.4 million in 2020 from $46.3 million in 2019, due to the Company repaying the majority 
of its debt on August 15, 2019.  

Other Finance Income (Loss) 

expressed in thousands of dollars 2020 2019(1) 

Accretion of future site reclamation provisions $(2,764) $(2,745) 
Foreign exchange gain on debt 25 10,375 
Fair value adjustment for debt settled in common shares - (3,328) 
Loss on early repayment of convertible debentures -  (1,766) 
Fair value adjustment to marketable securities 91 (304) 

 (2,648) 2,232 
Interest income 758         3,161 

Other finance income (loss) $(1,890) $5,393 

   

Other finance loss totalled $1.9 million in 2020 compared to an income of $5.4 million in 2019 with the expense resulting 
primarily from foreign exchange discussed below.  

(1) Year ended 2019 has been restated to incorporate the finalization of fair values relating to the sale of Red Chris in August 2019. 
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Income and Mining Taxes Recovery 

The reported income tax provision differs from the amounts computed by applying the Canadian federal and provincial 
statutory rates to the loss before income taxes due to the following reasons:  

 December 31 
2020  

December 31 
2019(1) 

 Amount %  Amount % 

Loss before taxes $(8,866) 100.0  $(69,617) 100.0 

Tax recovery thereon at statutory rates (2,394) (27.0)  (18,796) (27.0) 
Decrease (increase) resulting from:      
Non-deductible share-based compensation 196 2.2  72 0.1 
Non-taxable (non-deductible) portion of foreign exchange loss (gain) - -  (1,111) (1.6) 
Revisions to prior year estimates (3,741) (42.2)  3,442 5.0 
Non-deductible fair value adjustment on debt settled in common 

shares - -  899 1.3 
BC mineral tax  1,962 22.1  (12,896) (18.9) 
Other 3 -  (3) - 

Income and mining tax recovery $(3,974) (44.8)  $(28,393) (41.1) 

Current income and mining tax (recovery) expense $352   $(10,235)  
Deferred income and mining tax recovery (4,326)   (18,158)  

 $(3,974)   $(28,393)  

 
 December 31 

               2020 
December 31 

               2019(1) 

Deferred income and mining tax assets $11,230 $9,115 

Deferred income and mining tax liabilities (187,035) (189,244) 

Net deferred income and mining tax liabilities $(175,805) $(180,129) 

 
 December 31 

2020 
December 31 

2019(1) 

Deferred income and mining tax assets and liabilities   

  Mineral properties  $(209,162) $(190,208) 
)   Mineral properties – mineral tax (26,586) (30,213) 

  Net operating tax losses carried forward 55,912 36,062 

  Other 4,031 4,230 

Net deferred income and mining tax liabilities $(175,805) $(180,129) 
 

(1) Year ended 2019 has been restated to incorporate the finalization of fair values relating to the sale of Red Chris in August 2019. 

 The Company believes that it is probable that the results of future operations will generate sufficient taxable income to 
realize the above noted deferred income tax assets. 

At December 31, 2020, the Company had net operating tax loss carry forwards in Canada of $235,990 which can be applied 
to reduce future Canadian taxable income and will expire between 2026 and 2039.  In addition, the Company had net 
operating tax loss carry forwards in the United States of US$20,637 which can be applied to reduce future US taxable income 
and will expire in 2030 to 2037.   

The Company had the following tax effected temporary differences and tax effected unused tax losses at December 31, 
2020 in respect of which no deferred tax asset has been recognized: 

 Mineral  
Properties & Other Tax Losses Total 

Expiry 2026 and beyond $  - $9,702 $9,702 

No expiry date 12,057 8,866 20,923 

 $12,057 $18,568 $30,625 
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing the return 
to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. The Company’s overall strategy remains 
unchanged from 2019. The capital structure of the Company consists of current and non-current debt and equity comprised 
of share capital, contributed surplus, currency translation adjustment and retained earnings. 

LIQUIDITY & CAPITAL RESOURCES AND FINANCING 

Credit Risk 

The Company’s credit risk is limited to cash, trade and other receivables, and future site reclamation deposits in the ordinary 
course of business. The credit risk of cash and future site reclamation deposits is mitigated by placing funds in financial 
institutions with high credit quality.  

The Company sells to a limited number of traders and smelters. These customers are large and well-capitalized, and credit 
risk is considered to be minimal. The balance of trade receivables owed to the Company in the ordinary course of business 
is significant and the Company utilizes short term debt facilities with customers to reduce the net credit exposure.  

From time to time the Company enters into derivative instruments with a number of counterparties to limit the amount of 
credit risk associated with any one counterparty. The Company did not enter into any derivative instruments during the 

quarter ended December 31, 2020. 

Liquidity Risk 

The Company has in place a rigorous planning and budgeting process to help determine the funds required to support the 
Company’s normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis and its planned capital expenditures. The Company ensures 
that in addition to cash balances there are sufficient committed credit facilities, including the advance payment facilities 
with its customers, to provide cash necessary to meet projected cash requirements.  

At December 31, 2020, the Company had a working capital balance of $9.2 million, including a cash balance of $34.0 million 
which compares to a working capital of $53.7 million and cash balance of $90.0 million at December 31, 2019. The working 
capital reflects the funds that were received from the sale of 70% interest in Red Chris and subsequent repayment of the 
majority of the Company’s debt on August 15, 2019.  

The Company has a $50.0 million revolving credit facility of which $38.5 million was utilized primarily for letters of credit to 
secure reclamation bonds.  

Cash balances on hand, the projected cash flow from the Company’s 30% share of Red Chris mine, as well as the availab le 
credit facility are expected to be sufficient to fund the Company’s obligations as they come due.  

The Company holds mineral properties and marketable securities. While these may be convertible to cash, they are not 
considered when assessing the Company’s liquidity as they are part of the risk management program of the Company, long-
term strategic holdings, or are only convertible to cash over a longer time horizon if realizable values exceed management’s 
assessment of fair value, respectively. Therefore, as part of the Company’s planning, budgeting and liquidity analysis 
process, these items are not relied upon to provide operational liquidity.  

Liquidity risk is also impacted by credit risk should a counterparty default on its payments to the Company, although the 
Company considers this risk low as described in the Credit Risk section above. 

The Company had the following contractual obligations with respect to financial instruments as of December 31, 2020: 

expressed in thousands of dollars 
Within  
1 Year 2 Years 3 Years 4 Years 5 years Total 

Trade and other payables $44,170 $  - $  - $  - $  - $44,170 
Current portion of non-current debt 840 - - - - 840 
Non-current debt - 1,034 548 - - 1,582 

Total $45,010 $1,034 $548 $  - $  - $46,592 
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Currency Risk 

Financial instruments that impact the Company’s net income and comprehensive income due to currency fluctuations 
include US$ denominated cash, accounts receivable, derivative instrument assets, reclamation deposits, trade and other 
payables and debt. If the US$ had been 10% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, net loss and 
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 would have been higher/lower by $1.5 million.  

Cash Flow 

Cash flow was $37.3 million in 2020 compared to negative $3.6 million in 2019.  

Cash flow is a measure used by the Company to evaluate its performance however, it is not a term recognized under IFRS 
and may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies. Cash flow is defined as cash flow from operations 
before the net change in working capital balances, income and mining taxes, and interest paid.  Refer to Cash Flow and Cash 
Flow Per Share under Non-IFRS Financial Measures for further details.  

Working Capital 

At December 31, 2020, the Company had cash of $34.0 million and a working capital of $9.3 million, which includes $0.8 million 
of current debt, compared to a working capital of $53.7 million at December 31, 2019, which included $1.3 million of current 
debt. 

Acquisition and Development of Mineral Properties 

Acquisition and development of mineral properties from continuing and discontinued operations totalled $73.6 million in 
2020 compared to $49.4 million 2019.  

expressed in thousands of dollars   2020 2019 

Capital and Development Expenditures     
Red Chris*   $61,221 $40,361 
Mount Polley   - 4,942 
Other   - 6 

   61,221 45,309 

Exploration Expenditures     
Red Chris*   12,022 2,127 
Mount Polley   939 489 
Huckleberry   903 45 
Other**   (1,484) 1,406 

   12,380 4,067 

   $73,601 $49,376 

     

*The Red Chris mine was classified as a discontinued operation effective January 1, 2019 to August 14, 2019. Effective August 15, 2019, 

amounts noted above pertain to the Company’s 30% share of the Red Chris mine. 

**The reduction in 2020 is the result of dilution in interest in Ruddock Creek JV from 50.0% to 45.3%.  
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

The Company is from time to time involved in various claims and legal proceedings arising in the conduct of its business. 

During the third quarter of 2014, a securities class action under section 138 of the Ontario Securities Act was filed against 
the Company and certain of its directors, officers and others. On September 23, 2020, the Ontario Superior Court denied 
the Plaintiff leave to proceed with this claim. The Plaintiff has appealed this decision. The Company is of the view that the 
allegations contained in the claim are without merit and are unlikely to succeed.  

During the June 2020 period, a claim from a contractor was filed against the Company and has been submitted to 
arbitration. The claim is based on a contractor’s self-assessment of additional compensation owed for work previously 
carried out. The Company has denied that any further amounts are owed and is of the view that the allegations contained 
in the claim are without merit and are unlikely to succeed. The Company has made a counter claim against the contractor 
for breach of contract and negligent misrepresentations.  

The Company has commenced action against its insurance underwriters to recover business interruption losses incurred at 
the Mount Polley mine. The insurers have filed a statement of defense and a counterclaim. The Company is of the view that 
the counterclaim is without merit and unlikely to succeed.  

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 

In the past, the Company has utilized a variety of derivative instruments including the purchase of puts, forward sales, 
currency swaps and the use of min/max zero cost collars. The Company’s income or loss from derivative instruments may 
be very volatile from period to period as a result of changes in the copper and gold prices and US/CDN exchange rates 
compared to the copper and gold prices and US/CDN exchange rate at the time when these contracts were entered into; 
or the latest balance sheet date and the type and length of time to maturity of the contracts.  

The Company had no derivative instruments for copper, gold, or foreign exchange at December 31, 2020 or at the date of 
this document, other than those embedded in revenue contracts for provisional pricing. 
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DEBT AND OTHER OBLIGATIONS 

At December 31, 2020, the Company’s debt was comprised of equipment loans and leases denominated in both US$/CDN$ 
with a balance of $2.4 million. Detailed disclosure on the Company’s debt including amounts owed, interest rates and 
security can be found in Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Interest Rate Risk 

From time to time the Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its outstanding borrowings.  At December 31, 2020 and 
December 31, 2019, the Company did not have any borrowings that were at floating interest rates. The Company monitors 
its exposure to interest rates and is comfortable with its current exposure. The Company has not entered into any derivative 
contracts to manage this risk.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

At December 31, 2020, the Company did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely 
to have, a current or future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Company.  

Other Price Risks  

The Company is exposed to equity price risk arising from marketable securities. Marketable securities are classified as held 
for trading because the Company intends to liquidate the marketable securities when market conditions are conducive to 
a sale of these securities.  

Fair Value Estimation 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as marketable securities) is based on quoted market 
prices at the statement of financial position date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Company is 
the current bid price. The fair value of derivative instrument assets and liabilities are determined by the counterparties 
using standard valuation techniques for these derivative instruments.  

The carrying value less impairment provision, if necessary, of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are 
assumed to approximate their fair values.  

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement requires disclosures about the inputs to fair value measurement, including their 
classifications within a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to fair value measurement. The three levels of the fair value 
hierarchy are: 

Level 1 – unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; and 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly; and 
Level 3 – inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments has been classified within the fair value hierarchy at December 31, 
2020 as follows: 

expressed in thousands of dollars    Level 1 Level 2 Total 

Financial assets    
  Cash  $34,019 $  - $34,019 
  Marketable securities 130 - 130 
  Provisionally priced accounts receivables - 2,158 2,158 
  Future site reclamation deposits 14,359 - 14,359 

 $48,508 $2,158 $50,666 
Provisionally priced accounts receivables - repayable - (274) (274) 

 $48,508 $1,884 $50,392 
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SELECT QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

Unaudited - expressed in thousands of dollars,  
except per share amounts, prices, and exchange rates Three Months Ended 
 December 31 

2020 
September 30 

2020 
June 30 

2020(2) 

March 31 

2020(2) 

 Total revenues  $36,915 $38,161 $45,056 $27,965 
 Net income (loss) $(4,916) $7,063 $(182)              $(6,857) 
 Basic income (loss) per share    $(0.04) $0.05 $0.00 $(0.05) 
 Diluted income (loss) per share   $(0.04) $0.05 $0.00 $(0.05) 
 Adjusted net income (loss) (1)  $(5,553) $7,015 $(310) $(6,573) 
 Adjusted net income (loss) per share (1) $(0.04) $0.05 $0.00 $(0.05) 
 Adjusted EBITDA (1)  $33 $17,242 $16,224 $2,535 
 Cash flow (1) $712 $17,655 $16,417 $2,477 
 Cash flow per share (1) $0.01 $0.14 $0.13 $0.02 
 Average LME copper price/lb in US$ $3.25 $2.96 $2.42 $2.56 
 Average LBMA gold price/troy oz in US$ $1,873 $1,911 $1,711 $1,583 
 Average US$/CDN$ exchange rate $1.303 $1.332 $1.386 $1.345 
 Period end US$/CDN$ exchange rate $1.273 $1.334 $1.363 $1.419 
     

 December 31 

2019(2), (3) 

September 30 

2019(2),(3) 

June 30 

2019(2),(3) 

March 31 
2019(3) 

 Total revenues  $30,728 $46,863 $83,618 $76,681 
 Net income (loss)            $(13,840)           $343,006              $(7,450)           $(2,268) 
 Basic income (loss) per share    $(0.11)                   $2.67 $(0.06)                $(0.02) 
 Diluted income (loss) per share   $(0.11)                   $2.67 $(0.06)                $(0.02) 
 Adjusted net income (loss) (1)  $(16,475)              $34,083            $(16,683)            $(11,614) 
 Adjusted net income (loss) per share (1)  $(0.13)                 $0.27                $(0.13)                $(0.09) 
 Adjusted EBITDA (1)  $(3,610) $126,334 $6,846 $6,996 
 Cash flow (1) $(4,476) $8,356 $3,467 $10,285 
 Cash flow per share (1) $(0.04) $0.07 $0.03 $0.08 
 Average LME copper price/lb in US$ $2.67 $2.64 $2.77 $2.82 
 Average LBMA gold price/troy oz in US$ $1,480 $1,474 $1,310 $1,304 
 Average US$/CDN$ exchange rate $1.320 $1.321 $1.338 $1.329 
 Period end US$/CDN$ exchange rate $1.298 $1.324 $1.329 $1.337 
 

(1) Refer to tables under heading Non-IFRS Financial Measures for details of the calculation of these amounts. 
(2) Quarterly periods from September 2019 to June 2020 have been restated to incorporate the finalization of fair values relating to the sale 

of Red Chris in August 2019. 
(3)    2019 quarterly results include combined totals for continued and discontinued operations.  

The financial information for each of the most recently completed eight quarters has been prepared in accordance with IFRS 
other than in respect of the non-IFRS financial measures described in more detail under Non-IFRS Financial Measures. 
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Variations in the quarterly results are impacted by two primary factors:  

(a) Fluctuations in revenue are due to the timing of shipping schedules and quantities of copper and gold sold on each 
ship, production volumes at the mines, changes in the price of copper, gold and the US/CDN exchange rate. 

(b) Fluctuations in net income are due to the revenue changes described above and realized and unrealized gains/losses 
on derivative instruments based on movements in the reference item hedged, changes in foreign exchange rates on 
US$ denominated debt, changes in production cost inputs and changes in tax rates. 

In addition to the variations in quarterly results caused by the primary factors discussed above the following periods had 
non-recurring transactions that further impacted net income: 

(a) The primary reasons for the decrease in net loss in the March 2019 quarter compared to December 2018 quarter was 
due to a $20.8 million reduction in foreign exchange losses on long term debt and an $8.1 million non-recurring 
recovery of BC mineral taxes. These factors were partially offset by lower revenues due to the mining and treatment 
of lower grade ore from stockpiles at Mount Polley and shortage of available free water at Red Chris due to freezing 
conditions that reduced production.  

(b) The primary reasons for the increase in net loss in the June 2019 quarter compared to March 2019 quarter was due to 
higher operating expenses by approximately $7.5 million in the June quarter.  

(c) The primary reasons for the increase in net income in the September 2019 quarter compared to June 2019 quarter was 
due to a $436.5 million gain on sale and revaluation of interest in Red Chris and lower interest expense by 
approximately $9.2 million in the 2019 quarter as the Company repaid the majority of its debt during the period. 

(d) The primary reasons for the decrease in net income in the December 2019 quarter compared to income in the 
September 2019 quarter was largely due to a $438.6 million gain on sale and revaluation of interest in Red Chris which 
was recognized in the September 2019 quarter. However, compared to the December 2018 quarter, net income 
increased in the December 2019 quarter largely due to lower interest expense. 

(e) The primary reason for the increase in net loss in the March 2020 quarter compared to the March 2019 quarter was 
due to an increase in tax expense in the current year quarter compared to a tax recovery in the prior year quarter. 
However, compared to the December 2019 quarter, net loss decreased due to lower operating expenses.  

(f) The primary reasons for the increase in net income in the June 2020 quarter compared to March 2020 quarter was due 
to increased production at Red Chris and higher metal prices which led to increased revenues. The increase in net 
income compared to the June 2019 quarter was due to lower interest expense in the June 2020 comparative quarter.  

(g) The primary reason for the increase in net income in the September 2020 quarter compared to June 2020 quarter was 
due to an increase in tax recovery compared to the prior quarter. However, compared to September 2019 quarter, net 
income decreased due to the gain on sale of Red Chris in prior year quarter.   

(h) The primary reason for the decrease in net income in the December 2020 quarter compared to September 2020 quarter 
was due to higher operating expenses at Red Chris. However, compared to December 2019 quarter, net income 
increased in the December 2020 quarter largely due to higher tax recoveries.  
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FOURTH QUARTER RESULTS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

Revenue in the fourth quarter of 2020 was $36.9 million compared to $29.4 million in 2019. Sales revenue is recorded when 
title for concentrate is transferred on ship loading. Variations in revenue are impacted by the timing and quantity of 
concentrate shipments, metal prices and exchange rates, and period end revaluations of revenue attributed to concentrate 
shipments where copper and gold prices will settle at a future date along with finalization of contained metals as a result 
of final assays. 

The Company recorded a net loss of $4.9 million ($0.04 per share) in the fourth quarter of 2020 compared to net loss of $11.3 
million ($0.09 per share) in the prior year quarter.  

Expenditures for exploration and ongoing capital projects at Mount Polley, Red Chris and Huckleberry totalled $17.5 million 
during the three months ended December 31, 2020, compared to the expenditures for exploration and ongoing capital 
projects at Mount Polley and Huckleberry which totalled $10.5 million in the 2019 comparative quarter. Red Chris 
expenditures from August 15, 2019 onwards represented Imperial’s 30% proportionate share compared to the prior year 
quarter where these expenditures were classified as discontinued operations. 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Corporate 

The Company incurred the transactions and balances noted below in the normal course of operations. Expenses have been 
measured at the fair value which is determined on a cost recovery basis. Related party transactions and balances with joint 
ventures, a significant shareholder, companies controlled by a significant shareholder, companies in which directors are 
owners, and with directors and officers are as follows:  

expressed in thousands of dollars 2020 2019 

Other revenue (equipment rental and other services) $1,566 $886 
Loan guarantee fee for guarantee of Senior Credit Facility and Second Lien Secured 
Credit Facility $  - $3,483 

Line of credit arrangement fee $  - $100 
Junior Credit Facility Extension Fee $  - $45 
Interest expense and line of credit arrangement fee               $  - $15,087 
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CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information is gathered and 
reported on a timely basis to senior management, so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public disclosure. At the 
end of the period covered by this MD&A, management evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and 
procedures as required by Canadian securities laws. 

Based on that evaluation, management has concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this MD&A, the disclosure 
controls were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s annual 
filings and interim filings (as such terms are defined under National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ 
Annual and Interim Filings) and other reports filed or submitted under Canadian securities laws is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time periods specified by those laws, and that material information is accumulated and 
communicated to management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

Internal Controls and Procedures 

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting 
and disclosure controls and procedures. The Company’s internal control system over financial reporting is designed to provide 
reasonable assurance to management and the Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes policies and 
procedures that:  

• pertain to the maintenance of records that accurately and fairly reflect, in reasonable detail, the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company;  

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with IFRS, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and 

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of 
the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  

The Company’s management, under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, assessed the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting at December 31, 2020.  In making this assessment, 
management used the criteria set forth in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, as of 

December 31, 2020, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting were effective.  

Following the sale of a 70% interest in the Red Chris mine to Newcrest on August 15, 2019, the Company’s management has 
limited the scope of the design of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial 
reporting to exclude controls, policies and procedures of the Red Chris mine, in which the Company now holds a 30% beneficial 
interest and is proportionately consolidated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. As the minority partner in the 
Red Chris Joint Venture, the Company’s management does not have the ability to dictate or modify controls at this entity and 
does not have the ability to assess, in practice, the controls at the entity. The Red Chris Joint Venture constitutes 19.2% of the 
Company’s net assets, 59.0% of total assets, 98.8% of revenues of the consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for 
the year ended December 31, 2020.  The Red Chris Joint Venture is not a taxable entity as each joint venture participant 
calculates its own income taxes on their share of income from the joint venture. The Company’s share of the Red Chris Joint 
Venture’s pre-tax income totalled $16.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.  

Limitations  

The Company’s management believes that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls over financial reporting, 
no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance that the objectives of the 
control system are met. Therefore, even those systems determined effective cannot provide absolute assurance that all control 
issues and instances of fraud within the Company, if any, have been prevented or detected.    
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RISK FACTORS    

The Company’s business involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below and all of the 
information contained in this MD&A and the audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company. The risks and 
uncertainties described below are not the only risks and uncertainties that we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not 
presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations. If any of those risks 
actually occurs, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flow would suffer. The risks discussed below 
also include forward-looking statements, and our actual results may differ substantially from those discussed in these forward-
looking statements. See Forward-Looking Statements & Risks Notice.  

There are material risks and uncertainties associated with rehabilitation activities resulting from the Mount Polley Breach 
which may adversely affect our business. 

The Mount Polley Breach resulted in loss of production from the mine, the primary source of cash flow for the Company, for a 
significant period and necessitated extensive response and rehabilitation activities. The Company may not receive approvals 
and consents necessary to proceed with the remaining rehabilitation plans in a timely manner. The timing and amount of the 
remaining costs and the liabilities relating to the Mount Polley Breach are as yet unknown, as is the actual timing of completion 
of rehabilitation activities.  Furthermore, there may be unforeseen or long-term environmental consequences as a result of the 
Mount Polley Breach. 

It is also unknown at this time whether the Company may become subject to regulatory charges or claims, fines and penalties 
or the potential quantum thereof. The Company may be unsuccessful in defending against any material legal claims that may 
arise from the Mount Polley Breach, and current sources of funds may be insufficient to fund liabilities arising from the 
aforementioned charges or claims. Any additional financing that may be required may not be available to the Company on terms 
acceptable to the Company or at all. 

Mining is inherently dangerous and subject to conditions or events beyond our control, which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business.  

The business of exploring for and producing minerals is inherently risky. Few properties that are explored are ultimately 
developed into producing mines. Mineral properties are often non-productive for reasons that cannot be anticipated in advance. 
Title claims can impact the exploration, development, operation and sale of any natural resource project. Availability of skilled 
people, equipment and infrastructure (including roads, ports and power supply) can constrain the timely development of a 
mineral deposit. Even after the commencement of mining operations, such operations may be subject to risks and hazards, 
including environmental hazards, industrial accidents, metallurgical and other processing and performance problems, unusual 
or unexpected geological conditions, ground control problems, periodic interruptions due to inclement or hazardous weather 
conditions, including as a result of climate change and flooding. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could result in damage 
to or destruction of mineral properties and production facilities, personal injuries, environmental damage, delays or interruption 
of production, increases in production costs, monetary losses, legal liability and adverse governmental action. The Company’s 
property, business interruption and liability insurance may not provide sufficient coverage for losses related to these or other 
hazards. Insurance against certain risks may not be available to the Company (including certain liabilities for environmental 
pollution or other hazards) or to other companies within the industry. In addition, the Company may elect not to insure against 
certain hazards where insurance coverage may not continue to be available at economically feasible premiums, or at all. These 
risks could result in damage to, or destruction of, mineral properties or production facilities, personal injury or death, 
environmental damage to our properties or the properties of others, delays in mining, increased production costs, monetary 
losses and possible legal liability. Losses from these events may cause us to incur significant costs that would materially adversely 
affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  
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Changes in the price of base and precious metals in the world markets, which can fluctuate widely, could adversely affect 
our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  

The results of the Company’s operations are significantly affected by the market price of base and precious metals which are 
cyclical and subject to substantial price fluctuations. Market prices can be affected by numerous factors beyond the Company’s 
control, including levels of supply and demand for a broad range of industrial products, expectations with respect to the rate of 
inflation, the relative strength of the US dollar and of certain other currencies, interest rates, speculative activities, global or 
regional political or economic crises and sales of gold and base metals by holders in response to such factors. If prices should 
decline below the Company’s cash costs of production and remain at such levels for any sustained period, the Company could 
determine that it is not economically feasible to continue commercial production at any or all of its mines.  

The objectives of any hedging programs that are in place are to reduce the risk of a decrease in a commodity’s market price 
while optimizing upside participation, to maintain adequate cash flows and profitability to contribute to the long-term viability 
of the Company’s business. There are, however, risks associated with hedging programs including, among other things, an 
increase in the world price of the commodity, an increase in gold lease rates (in the case of gold hedging), an increase in interest 
rates, rising operating costs, counterparty risks, liquidity issues with funding margin calls to cover mark to market losses and 
production interruption events.  

In addition to adversely affecting our reserve estimates and our financial condition, declining metal prices can impact operations 
by requiring a reassessment of the feasibility of a particular project. Such a reassessment may be the result of a management 
decision or may be required under financing arrangements related to a particular project. Even if a project is ultimately 
determined to be economically viable, the need to conduct such a reassessment may cause substantial delays or may interrupt 
operations until the reassessment can be completed.  

General economic conditions or changes in consumption patterns may adversely affect our growth and profitability.  

The copper market is volatile and cyclical, and consumption of copper is influenced by global economic growth, trends in 
industrial production, conditions in the housing and automotive industries and economic growth in China, which is the largest 
consumer of refined copper in the world. Should demand weaken and consumption patterns change (in particular, if consumers 
seek out cheaper substitute materials), the price of copper could be adversely affected, which could negatively affect our results 
of operations.  

Many industries, including the copper mining industry, can be adversely impacted by market conditions. A downturn in the 
financial markets or other economic conditions, including, but not limited to, consumer spending, employment rates, business 
conditions, inflation, fuel and energy costs, consumer debt levels, lack of available credit, the state of the financial markets, 
interest rates, and tax rates could adversely affect our growth and profitability. Specifically:  

•  a reduction of the base-metal prices could impact the cost and availability of debt or equity financing and our overall liquidity 
and, further, the availability of financing on terms favourable to us;  

• as China consumes a significant amount of global copper production, the overall state of the Chinese economy, including 
credit/lending levels, fluctuations in inflation and interest rates and fiscal policy, could have an impact on global demand for 
copper, thereby potentially affecting copper prices realized by the Company;  

• the volatility of metal prices would impact our revenues, profits, losses and cash flows; and  
• volatile energy prices, commodity and consumables prices and currency exchange rates would impact our production costs.  

Any of these factors would adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  
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We may be impacted by the spread of COVID-19 or other infectious diseases 

The continued presence of infectious diseases, such as COVID-19, emerging infectious diseases or the threat of widespread 
outbreaks, pandemics or epidemics of viruses or other contagions or diseases, could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, prospects or any potential mine restart scenarios 
by causing operational and supply chain delays and disruptions (including as a result of governmental regulations and 
prevention measures), labour shortages and shutdowns, social unrest, breach of material contracts and customer 
agreements, governmental or regulatory actions or inactions, increased insurance premiums, decreased demand for or the 
inability to sell and delivery the Company’s products, declines in the price of copper and other base metals, delays in 
permitting or approvals, stock market volatility (including volatility in the trading price of the common shares), capital 
markets volatility, interest rate volatility, exchange rate volatility, or other unknown but potentially significant impacts.  In 
addition, governments may impose strict emergency measures in response to the threat or existence of an infectious 
disease.    

The full extent and impact of COVID-19 is unknown and to date has included extreme market volatility in financial markets, 
a slowdown in economic activity, extreme volatility in commodity prices, and has raised the prospect of global recession.  
The international response to COVID-19 has led to significant restrictions on travel, temporary business closures, 
quarantines, global stock market volatility, and a general reduction in global consumer activity.   

To date, there have been no significant disruptions to production, shipment of concentrate or supply chain. Since the onset 
of the COVID-19 in early 2020, the Company has continued to take measures to mitigate the possible impact of COVID-19 
on its workforce and operations (see Significant Events & Liquidity above for details on mitigation measures).  There is no 
guarantee that this will continue to be the case.  The extent to which COVID-19 will impact the Company’s workforce, 
operations or supply chains will depend on future developments which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with 
confidence.  These future developments include, but are not limited to, the duration of the outbreak, new information that 
may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19 and the mutations thereto, and the actions taken to contain COVID-19 
(e.g., further restrictions on travel, business closures and quarantines) or treat it.  The impact of governmental restrictions 
and health and safety protocols could improve or worsen relative to the Company’s assumptions, depending on how each 
jurisdiction manages potential outbreaks of COVID-19 and mutations thereto, the development and adequate supply of 
vaccines, and the roll-out of vaccination programs in each jurisdiction.   

Accordingly, the continued presence, or spread, of COVID-19 and mutations thereto, and any future emergence and spread 
of COVID-19 mutations or other infectious diseases could have a material adverse effect on to the Company’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or prospects.   

We may be adversely affected by the availability and cost of key inputs.  

Our competitive position depends on our ability to control operating costs. The cost structure of each operation is based on the 
location, grade and nature of the mineral deposit, and the management skills at each site as well as the price of labour, electricity, 
fuel, steel, chemicals, blasting materials, transportation and shipping and other cost components. If such supplies become 
unavailable or their cost increases significantly, the profitability of our mines would be impacted and operations at our mines 
could be interrupted or halted resulting in a significant adverse impact on our financial condition. Our management prepares its 
cost and production guidance and other forecasts based on its review of current and estimated future costs, and management 
assumes that the materials and supplies required for operations will be available for purchase. Lack of supply or increased costs 
for any of these inputs would decrease productivity, reduce the profitability of our mines, and potentially result in us suspending 
operations at our mines.  

Many of our costs are driven by supply and market demand. For example, the cost of local materials, like cement, explosives 
and electricity, will vary based on demand. Our main cost drivers include the cost of labour plus consumables such as electricity, 
fuel and steel. Wages can be affected by inflation and currency exchange rates and by the shortage of experienced human 
resources. The costs of fuel and steel are driven by global market supply and demand. In recent years, the mining industry has 
been impacted by increased worldwide demand for critical resources such as input commodities, drilling equipment, tires and 
skilled labour, and these shortages may cause unanticipated cost increases and delays in delivery times, thereby impacting 
operating costs, capital expenditures and production schedules.  
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Concentrate treatment charges and transportation costs are also a significant component of operating costs. Concentrate 
treatment and refining charges have been volatile in recent years. We are dependent on third parties for rail, truck and maritime 
services to transport our products, and contract disputes, demurrage charges, rail and port capacity issues, availability of vessels, 
weather and climate and other factors can have a material adverse impact on our ability to transport our products according to 
schedules and contractual commitments.  

Our operations, by their nature, use large amounts of electricity and energy. Energy prices can be affected by numerous factors 
beyond our control, including global and regional supply and demand, political and economic conditions, and applicable 
regulatory regimes. The prices of various sources of energy may increase significantly from current levels. An increase in 
electricity and energy prices could negatively affect our business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations.  

Increases in these costs would have an adverse impact on our results of operations and would adversely affect our business, 
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  

We may be unable to compete successfully with other mining companies.  

The mining industry is competitive in all of its phases. We face strong competition from other mining companies in connection 
with the acquisition of properties producing, or capable of producing, metals. Many of these companies have greater financial 
resources, operational experience and technical capabilities and a longer operating history than us. We may also encounter 
increasing competition from other mining companies in our efforts to hire experienced mining professionals. In addition, 
competition for exploration resources at all levels is very intense. Increased competition could adversely affect our ability to 
attract necessary capital funding, to acquire it on acceptable terms, or to acquire suitable producing properties or prospects for 
mineral exploration in the future. At certain times when copper prices increase, such increase encourages increases in mining 
exploration, development and construction activities, which can result in increased demand for and cost of contract exploration, 
development and construction services and equipment.  

Increased demand for and cost of services and equipment could cause project costs to increase materially, resulting in delays if 
services or equipment cannot be obtained in a timely manner due to inadequate availability, and increased potential for 
scheduling difficulties and cost increases due to the need to coordinate the availability of services or equipment. Any of these 
outcomes could materially increase project exploration, development or construction costs, result in project delays, or both. As 
a result of this competition, we may be unable to maintain or acquire attractive mining properties or attract better or more 
qualified employees, which would adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  

We are dependent upon third party smelters for processing our products.  

The Company’s project interests primarily produce concentrates. These must be processed into metal by independent smelters 
under concentrate sales agreements in order for the Company to be paid for its products. There can be no assurance or 
guarantee the Company will be able to enter into concentrate sales agreements on terms that are favourable to the Company 
or at all.  

We may become unable to access our markets due to trade barriers.  

Access to the Company’s markets is subject to ongoing interruptions and trade barriers due to policies and tariffs of 
individual countries, and the actions of certain interest groups to restrict the import of certain commodities. Although there 
are currently no significant trade barriers existing or impending of which the Company is aware that do, or could, materially 
affect the Company’s access to certain markets, there can be no assurance that the Company’s access to these markets will 
not be restricted in the future. 
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Undue reliance should not be placed on estimates of reserves and resources since these estimates are subject to 
numerous uncertainties and may be revised. Our actual reserves could be lower than such estimates, which could 
adversely affect our operating results, financial condition and cash flows. 

Disclosed reserve estimates should not be interpreted as assurances of mine life or of the profitability of current or future 
operations. The Company estimates its mineral reserves in accordance with the requirements of applicable Canadian 
securities regulatory authorities and established mining standards. Mineral resources are concentrations or occurrences of 
minerals that are judged to have reasonable prospects for economic extraction, but for which the economics of extraction 
cannot be assessed, whether because of insufficiency of geological information or lack of feasibility analysis, or for which 
economic extraction cannot be justified at the time of reporting. Consequently, mineral resources are of a higher risk and 
are less likely to be accurately estimated or recovered than mineral reserves. The Company’s reserves and resources are 
estimated by persons who are employees of the respective operating company for each of our operations under the 
supervision of employees of the Company. These individuals are not “independent” for purposes of applicable securities 
legislation. The Company does not use outside sources to verify reserves or resources. The mineral reserve and mineral 
resource figures are estimates based on the interpretation of limited sampling and subjective judgments regarding the 
grade and existence of mineralization, as well as the application of economic assumptions, including assumptions as to 
operating costs, foreign exchange rates and future metal prices. The sampling, interpretations or assumptions underlying 
any reserve or resource figure may be incorrect, and the impact on mineral reserves or mineral resources may be material. 
In addition, short term operating factors relating to mineral reserves, such as the need for orderly development of mineral 
deposits or the processing of new or different ores, may cause mineral reserve estimates to be modified or operations to 
be unprofitable in any particular fiscal period. There can be no assurance that the indicated amount of minerals will be 
recovered or that they will be recovered at the prices assumed for purposes of estimating reserves.  

The volume and grade of reserves we actually recover, and rates of production from our current mineral reserves, may be less 
than estimates of the reserves. Short-term operating factors relating to the mineral reserves, such as the need for orderly 
development of the deposits or the processing of new or different grades, may cause the mining operation to be unprofitable 
in any particular accounting period and may also prompt us to modify mineral reserves estimates. There can be no assurance 
that the indicated amount of reserve will be recovered or that it will be recovered at prices we have assumed in determining 
the mineral reserves. Fluctuations in the market price of copper, gold and other metals, changing exchange rates and operating 
and capital costs may make it uneconomical to mine certain mineral reserves in the future.  

Reserve estimates can be uncertain because they are based on limited sampling. As we gain more knowledge and 
understanding of the deposit through on-going exploration and mining activity, the reserve estimate may change 
significantly, either positively or negatively.  

Due to the uncertainty which are attached to inferred mineral resources, there is no assurance that inferred mineral resources 
will be upgraded to proven and probable mineral reserves as a result of continued exploration.  

Cautionary notice regarding mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates.  

Disclosure of mineral reserve and mineral resource classification terms and certain mineral resource estimates that are made in 
accordance with Canadian National Instrument 43-101-Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (“NI43-101”). NI43-101 is a 
rule developed by the Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA) that establishes standards for all public disclosure an issuer 
makes of scientific and technical information concerning mineral projects. Unless otherwise indicated, all reserve and resource 
estimates have been prepared in accordance with NI43-101. These standards differ significantly from the mineral reserve 
disclosure requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) set out in Industry Guide 7. Consequently, the 
Company’s mineral reserve and resource information is not comparable to similar information that would generally be disclosed 
by U.S. companies in accordance with the rules of the SEC. 

Terms mineral resources, measured mineral resources, indicated mineral resources and inferred mineral resources comply with 
the reporting standards in Canada. Further, inferred mineral resources have a great amount of uncertainty as to their existence 
and as to whether they can be mined legally or economically.  Therefore, investors are also cautioned not to assume that all or 
any part of an inferred resource exists. In accordance with Canadian rules, estimates of inferred mineral resources cannot form 
the basis of feasibility or pre-feasibility studies. It cannot be assumed that all or any part of mineral resources, measured mineral 
resources, indicated mineral resources or inferred mineral resources will ever be upgraded to a higher category. Investors are 
cautioned not to assume that any part of the reported mineral resources, measured mineral resources, indicated mineral 
resources or inferred mineral resources is economically or legally mineable.  
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Production estimates may be materially different from actual production, which would adversely affect our business, 
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  

Actual production could be different for a variety of reasons, including:  

• short-term operating factors relating to the mineral reserves, such as the need for sequential development of mineral deposits 
and the processing of new or different grades;  

• risks and hazards associated with mining, including geotechnical issues such as pit slope stability at open pit operations and 
structural issues at underground mines;  

• the actual material mined could vary from estimates, with respect to grades and/or tonnage;  
• mine failures;  
• industrial accidents;  
• natural phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, floods, droughts, rock slides and earthquakes;  
• unusual or unexpected geological conditions;  
• changes in power costs and potential power shortages;  
• shortages of principal supplies needed for mining operations, including explosives, fuels, chemical reagents, water, equipment 

parts and lubricants;  
• plant and equipment failure;  
• the inability to process certain types of ore;  
• labour shortages or strikes;    
• civil disobedience and protests; and  
• restrictions or regulations imposed by government authorities or other changes in the regulatory environment applicable to 

the mining industry.  

Furthermore, as Newcrest is the operator of the Red Chris mine, we are reliant on the production guidance provided by Newcrest 
and there can be no assurance that we will achieve such production estimates. 

We must continually replace and expand our mineral reserves and mineral resources and the depletion of our mineral 
reserves may not be offset by future discoveries or acquisitions of mineral reserves.  

Mines have limited lives based on proven and probable mineral reserves. As a result, we must continually replace and expand 
our mineral reserves. This is done by expanding known mineral reserves or by locating or acquiring new mineral deposits. There 
is, however, a risk that depletion of reserves will not be offset by future discoveries of mineral reserves. The life-of-mine 
estimates for each of our operating mines are based on our best estimate given the information available to us. These estimates 
may not be correct. Our ability to maintain or increase our annual production of copper, gold and other metals depends in 
significant part on our ability to find and/or acquire new mineral reserves and bring new mines into production, and to expand 
mineral reserves at existing mines.  

Exploration for minerals is highly speculative in nature and the projects involve many risks. Many projects are unsuccessful and 
there are no assurances that current or future exploration programs will be successful. Further, significant costs are incurred to 
establish mineral reserves and to construct mining and processing facilities. Development projects have no operating history 
upon which to base estimates of future cash flow and are subject to the successful completion of feasibility studies, obtaining 
necessary government permits, obtaining title or other land rights and availability of financing. In addition, assuming discovery 
of an economic mineral deposit, depending on the type of mining operation involved, many years may elapse from the initial 
phases of drilling until commercial operations are commenced. Accordingly, there can be no assurances that our current work 
programs will result in any new commercial mining operations or yield new reserves to replace and/or expand current reserves.  
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Our exploration and development of new and existing mines may be unsuccessful.  

Because the life of a mine is limited by its mineral reserves, we continually look for opportunities to replace and expand our 
reserves by exploring existing properties and by looking for potential acquisitions of new properties or companies that own new 
properties.  

Exploration and development of mineral properties involves significant financial and operational risk. There is no assurance that 
we will be successful in our efforts. Very few properties that are explored are later developed into an operating mine. Developing 
a property involves many risks and unknowns, such as establishing mineral reserves by drilling, completion of feasibility studies, 
obtaining and maintaining various permits and approvals from governmental authorities, constructing mining and processing 
facilities, securing required surface or other land rights, finding or generating suitable sources of power and water, confirming 
the availability and suitability of appropriate local area infrastructure and developing it if needed, and obtaining adequate 
financing. Substantial spending may be made on properties that are later abandoned due to a failure to satisfy any of such 
factors.  

The capital expenditures and timeline needed to develop a new mine are considerable and the economics of a project can be 
affected by changes to them. Major expenses may be required to locate and establish mineral reserves, to develop metallurgical 
processes and to construct mining and processing facilities at a particular site. Actual costs may increase significantly and 
economic returns may differ materially from our estimates. Whether a mineral deposit will be commercially viable depends on 
a number of factors, including, without limitation, the particular attributes of the deposit, such as size, grade and proximity to 
infrastructure, metal prices, which fluctuate widely, and government regulations, including, without limitation, regulations 
relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, importing and exporting of minerals and environmental protection. We 
may be unable to satisfactorily resolve fiscal and tax issues, or fail to obtain permits and approvals necessary to operate a project 
so that the project may not proceed, either on the original timeline, or at all. New mining operations may experience unexpected 
problems during start-up, which can cause delays and require more capital than anticipated. The combination of these factors 
may cause us to expend significant resources (financial and otherwise) on a property without receiving a return on investment 
and could result in the Company being unsuccessful in developing new mines. This, in turn, would adversely affect our business, 
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and may be forced to take other actions 
to satisfy our obligations under such indebtedness, which may not be successful. 

Our ability to make scheduled payments on or refinance our debt obligations depends on our financial condition and operating 
performance, which are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business, legislative, 
regulatory and other factors beyond our control. We may be unable to maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities 
sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness.  

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we could face substantial liquidity 
problems and could be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures or to dispose of material assets or 
operations, seek additional debt or equity capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness. We may not be able to effect 
any such alternative measures, if necessary, on commercially reasonable terms or at all and, even if successful, those alternatives 
may not allow us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations.  

Our inability to generate sufficient cash flows to satisfy our debt obligations, or to refinance our indebtedness on commercially 
reasonable terms or at all, would materially and adversely affect our financial position and results of operations and our ability 
to satisfy our obligations.  

Fluctuations in exchange rates may adversely affect our operating and capital costs.  

The Company’s operating results and cash flow are affected by changes in the CDN$ exchange rate relative to the currencies of 
other countries, especially the US$. Exchange rate movements can have a significant impact on operating results as a significant 
portion of the Company’s operating costs are incurred in CDN$ and most revenues are earned in US$. To reduce the exposure 
to currency fluctuations, the Company may enter into foreign exchange contracts from time to time, but such hedges do not 
eliminate the potential that such fluctuations may have an adverse effect on the Company. In addition, foreign exchange 
contracts expose the Company to the risk of default by the counterparties to such contracts, which could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company.  
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Changes in interest rates may adversely affect our operating and capital costs.  

The Company’s exposure to changes in interest rates results from investing and borrowing activities undertaken to manage 
liquidity and capital requirements. The Company has incurred indebtedness that bears interest at fixed and floating rates and 
may enter into interest rate swap agreements to manage interest rate risk associated with that debt. There can be no assurance 
that the Company will not be materially adversely affected by interest rate changes in the future, notwithstanding its possible 
use of interest rate swaps. In addition, the Company’s possible use of interest rate swaps exposes it to the risk of default by the 
counterparties to such arrangements. Any such default could have a material adverse effect on the Company.  

We may be adversely affected by loss of access to capital.  

In general, mining is an extremely capital intensive business. Mining companies need significant amounts of ongoing capital to 
maintain and improve existing operations, invest in large scale capital projects with long lead times, and manage uncertain 
development and permitting timelines and the volatility associated with fluctuating metals and input prices. The amount of cash 
currently generated by the Company’s operations may not be sufficient to fund projected levels of exploration and development 
activity and associated overhead costs. The Company may then be dependent upon debt and equity financing to carry out its 
exploration and development plans.  Financial markets, including banking, debt and equity markets, can be extremely volatile 
and can prevent us from gaining access to the capital required to maintain and grow our business. Failure to obtain, or difficulty 
or delay in obtaining, requisite financing could result in delay of certain projects or postponement of further exploration, 
assessment or development of certain properties or projects, and would adversely affect our business, results of operations, 
financial condition and cash flows.  

We are required to obtain government permits and comply with other government regulations to conduct operations.  

Regulatory and permitting requirements have a significant impact on the Company’s mining operations and can have a material 
and adverse effect on future cash flow, results of operations and financial condition. In order to conduct mineral exploration 
and mining activities the Company must obtain or renew exploration or mining permits and licenses in accordance with the 
relevant mining laws and regulations required by governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the mineral projects. There 
is no guarantee that the Company will be granted the necessary permits and licenses, that they will be renewed, or that the 
Company will be in a position to comply with all the conditions that are imposed. Mining is subject to potential risks and liabilities 
associated with pollution and the disposal of waste from mineral exploration and mine operations. Costs related to discovery, 
evaluation, planning, designing, developing, constructing, operating, closing and remediating mines and other facilities in 
compliance with these laws and regulations are significant. In addition to environmental protection, applicable laws and 
regulations govern employee health and safety. Not complying with these laws and regulations can result in enforcement actions 
that may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment, remedial action and 
changes to operating procedures resulting in additional costs and temporary or permanent shutdown of operations. The 
Company may also be required to compensate those parties suffering loss or damage and may face civil or criminal fines or 
penalties for violating certain laws or regulations. Changes to these laws and regulations in the future could have an adverse 
effect on the Company’s cash flow, results of operations and financial condition.  

We are subject to various risks related to environmental, health and safety and other forms of government regulation.  

Our mining, processing, development and exploration activities are subject to extensive laws and regulations, which include 
laws and regulations governing, among other things: the environment, climate change, employee health and safety, mine 
development, mine operation, mine safety, mine closure and reclamation, exploration, prospecting, taxes, royalties, toxic 
substances, waste disposal, land use, water use, land claims of local people and other matters. We require permits and approvals 
from a variety of regulatory authorities for many aspects of mine development, operation, closure and reclamation. Additionally, 
permits and approvals may be invalidated or subject to challenges after the date of issuance. Such acts could have a material 
adverse impact on us, our operations or results.  

The Company’s historical operations have generated chemical and metals depositions in the form of tailing ponds, rock waste 
dumps, and heap leach pads. Our ability to obtain, maintain and renew permits and approvals and to successfully develop and 
operate mines may be adversely affected by real or perceived impacts associated with our activities or of other mining 
companies that affect the environment, human health and safety.  
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No assurance can be given that new laws and regulations will not be enacted or that existing laws and regulations will not be 
applied in a manner that could have an adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations. Any such amendments 
to current laws, regulations and permits governing operations and activities of mining and exploration companies, or more 
stringent implementation thereof, would have a material adverse impact on us, such as increases in exploration expenses, 
capital expenditures or production costs or reduction in levels of production at producing properties, or could require 
abandonment or delays in the development of new mining properties.  

Failure to comply with any applicable laws, regulations or permitting requirements may result in enforcement actions against 
us, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include 
corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment, or remedial actions. We are exposed 
to these potential liabilities through our current development projects and operations as well as operations that have been 
closed or sold. For example, we could be required to compensate others for losses or damages from our mining activities; and 
we could face civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations. Any such regulatory or 
judicial action could materially affect our operating costs and delay or curtail our operations. There can be no assurance that we 
have been or will be at all times in compliance with all laws, regulations and permits, that compliance will not be challenged or 
that the costs of complying with current and future environmental, health and safety laws, regulations and permits will not 
materially or adversely affect our business, operations or results.  

Certain of our assets are not wholly owned or are owned through joint ventures, and any disagreement or failure of 
partners to meet obligations could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.  

We hold a 30% interest in the Red Chris mine through our wholly owned subsidiary. Newcrest holds a 70% interest through its 
wholly owned subsidiary. Our interest in the Red Chris mine is subject to the risks normally associated with the conduct of a joint 
venture. While Newcrest is the operator of the project, we have approval rights for certain key decisions such as changes in 
share capital, merger, amalgamation, dissolution of the joint venture, dividends or earning distributions, capital expenditure and 
operating budgets, exploration budgets, financing and pledge of joint venture assets, suspension or cessation of operations, 
utilization of derivative instruments and changes in operator or the projects of the joint venture. 

We hold a 45.3% interest in the Ruddock Creek property through our wholly owned subsidiaries. Mitsui Mining and Smelting 
Co. Ltd. and Itochu Corporation hold the remaining 30% and 20% interest, respectively, through their respective wholly owned 
subsidiaries, MK Mining Canada, Corporation and ICM Mining (Canada) Inc. Our interest in the Ruddock Creek property is subject 
to the risks normally associated with the conduct of a joint venture. While we are the operator of the project, MK Mining Canada, 
Corporation and ICM Mining (Canada) Inc. have approval rights for certain key decisions such as changes in share capital, merger, 
amalgamation, dissolution of the joint venture, dividends or earning distributions, capital expenditure and operating budgets, 
exploration budgets, financing and pledge of joint venture assets, suspension or cessation of operations, utilization of derivative 
instruments, related party transactions, changes in operator or the projects of the joint venture, and hiring of key personnel.  

In addition, our co-investors or joint venture partners may have competing interests in our markets that could create conflict of 
interest issues, and otherwise may have economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with our interests or goals 
and may take actions contrary to our instructions, requests, policies or objectives.  

Our co-investors or joint venture partners, such as the ones described above, may have the right to veto any of these decisions 
and this could therefore lead to a deadlock. 

The existence or occurrence of one or more of the following circumstances and events could have a material adverse impact on 
our profitability or the viability of our interests in such assets, which could have a material adverse impact on our future cash 
flows, earnings, results of operations and financial condition: (i) disagreement with co-investors or joint venture partners on 
how to develop and operate mines efficiently; (ii) inability of our co-investors or joint venture partners to meet their obligations; 
(iii) litigation with our co-investors or joint venture partners regarding such assets or (iv) failure of our co-investors or joint 
venture partners to comply with applicable laws, rules or regulations.  
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We are not able to control the amounts of distributions the Red Chris mine and Ruddock Joint Venture may make to us.  

The ability of the Red Chris mine and Ruddock Joint Venture to make distributions to us may be restricted by, among other 
things, the terms of each of their governing documents. Accordingly, we are not able to control if and when, and the amount of 
distributions that the Red Chris mine and Ruddock Joint Venture may make to us.  

We face additional risks and uncertainties from past or future operations in foreign countries.  

The Company operates from time to time in other foreign countries where there are added risks and uncertainties due to the 
different legal, economic, cultural and political environments. Some of these risks include nationalization and expropriation, 
social unrest and political instability, uncertainties in perfecting mineral titles, trade barriers and exchange controls and material 
changes in taxation. Further, developing country status or unfavourable political climate may make it difficult for the Company 
to obtain financing for projects in some countries.  

We are, or may become, subject to regulatory investigations, claims, litigation and other proceedings, the outcome of 
which may affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  

The nature of our business has and may continue to subject us from time to time to regulatory investigations, claims, lawsuits 
and other proceedings and the Company may be involved in disputes with other parties in the future, which may result in 
litigation. We cannot predict the outcome of any regulatory investigation, claims, litigation or other proceedings.  Defence and 
settlement costs may be substantial, even with respect to claims that have no merit. If we cannot resolve these disputes 
favourably or successfully defend against any potential regulatory prosecution or other proceedings, our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and future prospects may be materially adversely affected.  

Mineral rights or surface rights to our properties could be challenged, and, if successful, such challenges would adversely 
affect our business, results of operation, financial condition and cash flows.  

The acquisition of title to mineral properties is a very detailed and time-consuming process. Title to mineral concessions may be 
disputed and title insurance is generally not available. There is no guarantee that title to any such properties will not be 
challenged or impaired. Third parties may have valid claims underlying portions of our interest, including prior unregistered 
liens, agreements, transfers or claims, including indigenous land claims, and title may be affected by, among other things, 
undetected defects. As a result, we may be constrained in our ability to operate our properties or unable to enforce our rights 
with respect to our properties. An impairment to or defect in our title to our properties would adversely affect our business, 
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  

We are dependent on transportation facilities, infrastructure and certain suppliers, a lack of which could impact our 
production and development of projects.  

Mining, processing, development and exploration activities depend, to one degree or another, on adequate infrastructure. 
Reliable roads, bridges, power sources and water supply affect capital and operating costs and the completion of the 
development of our projects. Unusual or infrequent weather phenomena, sabotage, community, government or other 
interference in the maintenance or provision of such infrastructure in any of the jurisdictions in which we operate could 
adversely affect our business, operations or results. Disruptions in the supply of products or services required for our activities 
in any of the jurisdictions in which we operate would also adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition 
and cash flows.  

We depend on key management personnel and may not be able to attract and retain such persons in the future.  

Our business is dependent on retaining the services of a small number of key personnel of the appropriate calibre as the business 
develops. Our success is, and will continue to be to a significant extent, dependent on the expertise and experience of our 
directors and senior management, and the loss of one or more of such persons could have a materially adverse effect on us. We 
do not maintain any key man insurance with respect to any of our officers or directors.  
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We are subject to taxation risk.  

We have operations and conduct business in a number of jurisdictions and are subject to the taxation laws of these jurisdictions. 
These taxation laws are complicated and subject to changes and are subject to review and assessment in the ordinary course. 
Any such changes in taxation law or reviews and assessments could result in higher taxes being payable by us which could 
adversely affect our profitability and cash flows.  

Our ability to repatriate funds from foreign subsidiaries may be limited, or we may incur tax payments when doing so.  

Should we generate cash flow and profits from foreign subsidiaries, we may need to repatriate funds from those subsidiaries to 
service our indebtedness or fulfil our business plans, in particular in relation to ongoing expenditures at our development assets. 
We may not be able to repatriate funds, or we may incur tax payments or other costs when doing so, as a result of a change in 
applicable law or tax requirements at local subsidiary levels or at the parent company level, which costs could be material.  

Our directors may have interests which conflict with our interests.  

Certain of our directors also serve as directors and/or officers of other companies involved in natural resource exploration and 
development or with other companies with which we transact and consequently there exists the possibility for such directors 
to be in a position of conflict. In all cases where directors have an interest in another resource company, such other companies 
may also compete with us for the acquisition of mineral property rights. In the event that any such conflict of interest arises, a 
director who has such a conflict will disclose the conflict to a meeting of our directors and will abstain from voting for or against 
the approval of such participation or such terms. In appropriate cases, we will establish a special committee of independent 
directors to review a matter in which directors, or management, may have a conflict.  

Actual costs of reclamation are uncertain, and higher than expected costs could negatively impact our results of 
operations and financial position.  

Our operations are subject to reclamation plans that establish our obligations to reclaim properties after minerals have been 
mined from a site. These obligations represent significant future costs for us. Reclamation bonds or other forms of financial 
assurance are often required to secure reclamation activities. Governing authorities require companies to periodically 
recalculate the amount of a reclamation bond and may require bond amounts to be increased. It may be necessary to revise the 
planned reclamation expenditures and the operating plan for the mine in order to fund an increase to a reclamation bond. 
Reclamation bonds represent only a portion of the total amount of money that will be spent on reclamation over the life of a 
mine operation. The actual costs of reclamation set out in mine plans are estimates only and may not represent the actual 
amounts that will be required to complete all reclamation activity. If actual costs are significantly higher than our estimates, then 
our results from operations and financial position could be materially adversely affected.  

Asset carrying values are evaluated quarterly and may be subject to write downs.  

At each quarter end we undertake an evaluation of our portfolio of producing mines, development projects, exploration and 
other assets to determine whether indication of impairment exists. Where an indication of impairment exists for post feasibility 
exploration properties, producing properties and plant and equipment, the recoverability of the carrying values of our properties 
are assessed by comparing carrying values to estimated future net cash flows from each property.  

Factors which may affect carrying values include, but are not limited to, copper and gold prices, foreign exchange rates, capital 
cost estimates, mining, processing and other operating costs, grade and metallurgical characteristics of ore, mine design and 
timing of production. In the event of a prolonged period of depressed copper prices or in the event of other factors reducing 
estimated future net cash flows from exploration and development properties, we may be required to take additional material 
write downs of our exploration and development properties.  

The review by management for impairment of the Company’s exploration and evaluation properties may be affected by the 
timing of exploration work, funding priorities, work programs proposed, and the exploration results achieved by the Company 
and by others in the related area of interest.  
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The Company’s critical operating systems may be compromised. 

Cyber threats have evolved in severity, frequency and sophistication in recent years, and target entities are no longer 
primarily from the financial or retail sectors. Individuals engaging in cybercrime may target corruption of systems or data, 
or theft of sensitive data. The Company’s mines and mills are automated and networked such that a cyber-incident involving 
the Company’s information systems and related infrastructure could negatively impact its operations. A corruption of the 
Company’s financial or operational data or an operational disruption of its production infrastructure could, among other 
potential impacts, result in: (i) loss of production or accidental discharge; (ii) expensive remediation efforts; (iii) distraction 
of management; (iv) damage to the Company’s reputation or its relationship with suppliers and/or counterparties; or (v) in 
events of noncompliance, which events could lead to regulatory fines or penalties. Any of the foregoing could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 

While the Company invests in robust security systems to detect and block inappropriate or illegal access to its key systems 
and works diligently to ensure data and system integrity, there can be no assurance that a critical system is not inadvertently 
or intentionally breached and compromised. This may result in business interruption losses, equipment damage, or loss of 
critical or sensitive information. 

Our use of derivative contracts exposes us to risk of opportunity loss, mark to market accounting adjustments and 
exposure to counterparty credit risk.  

From time to time, we may enter into price risk management contracts to protect against fluctuations in the price of our 
products, exchange rate movements, and changes in the price of fuel and other input costs. These contracts could include 
forward sales or purchase contracts, futures contracts, precious metals streams, purchased put and call options and other 
contracts. Any such use of forward or futures contracts can expose us to risk of an opportunity loss. The use of derivative 
contracts may also result in significant mark to market accounting adjustments, which may have a material adverse impact on 
our reported financial results. We are exposed to credit risk with contract counterparties, including, but not limited to, sales 
contracts and derivative contracts. In the event of non-performance by a customer in connection with a contract, we could be 
exposed to a loss of value for that contract.  
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OUTLOOK 

Corporate and Operations 

At December 31, 2020, the Company had not hedged any copper, gold, or US$/CDN$ exchange. Quarterly revenues will 
fluctuate depending on copper and gold prices, the US$/CDN$ exchange rate, and the timing of concentrate sales, which 
is dependent on concentrate production and the availability and scheduling of transportation.  

Newcrest provided metals production guidance (100%) for Red Chris mine, for the period July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021 
(period conforms to Newcrest June 30 annual year end), in the range of 55.1 to 66.1 million pounds copper and 45 to 55 
thousand ounces gold.  

The restart of Mount Polley and Huckleberry operations are being planned. The timeline of a restart will depend on securing 
financing, and the completion of the Province wide vaccine distribution.  

Exploration 

Imperial maintains a large portfolio of greenfield exploration properties in British Columbia. These properties have defined 
areas of mineralization and exploration potential. Management continues to evaluate various opportunities to advance 
many of these properties.  

Exploration plans for 2021 will be focused at Red Chris. 

Acquisitions   

Management continues to evaluate potential acquisitions. 

 

 

  

 

 



     
 

 

Red Chris Mine 
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and all information in the annual report are the responsibility of 
management.  These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with the 
accounting policies described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. Where necessary, management has 
made informed judgments and estimates of the outcome of events and transactions. In the opinion of management, the 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared within acceptable limits of materiality and are in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards appropriate in the circumstances.  The financial information elsewhere in the 
annual report has been reviewed to ensure consistency with that in the consolidated financial statements. 

Management maintains appropriate systems of internal control.  Policies and procedures are designed to give reasonable 
assurance that transactions are appropriately authorized, assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use and 
financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for preparation of financial statements.  Deloitte 
LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, has been engaged, as approved by a vote of the shareholders at the Company’s 
most recent Annual General Meeting, to audit the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards and provide an independent auditor’s opinion.  Their report is presented with the consolidated 
financial statements. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and 
internal control.  The Board exercises this responsibility through the Audit Committee of the Board.  This Committee, which 
is comprised of a majority of non-management Directors, meets with management and the external auditors to satisfy itself 
that management’s responsibilities are properly discharged and to review the consolidated financial statements before 
they are presented to the Board of Directors for approval.  The consolidated financial statements have been approved by 
the Board of Directors on the recommendation of the Audit Committee. 

/s/  J. Brian Kynoch 
 
 

/s/  Darb S. Dhillon 

J. Brian Kynoch  Darb S. Dhillon 
President  Chief Financial Officer 
 
March 17, 2021 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Imperial Metals Corporation: 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Imperial Metal Corporation (the “Company”), which comprise 
the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the consolidated statements of 
(loss) income, comprehensive (loss) income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies (collectively referred to as the 
“financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards (“Canadian GAAS”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. 

Mineral Properties — Assessment of Indicators of Impairment or Impairment Reversal – Refer to Notes 2 and 6 to the 
financial statements 

Key Audit Matter Description 

The Company’s determination of whether or not an indicator of impairment or impairment reversal exists at the Red Chris, 
Mount Polley and Huckleberry cash generating units requires significant management judgement.  

While there are several inputs that are required to determine whether or not an indicator of impairment or impairment 
reversal exists, the judgements with the highest degree of subjectivity are future copper and gold prices, discount rate and 
ability and timing to restart mine operations at Mount Polley and Huckleberry mines. Auditing these estimates and inputs 
required a high degree of subjectivity in applying audit procedures and in evaluating the results of those procedures which 
resulted in an increased extent of audit effort, including the involvement of fair value specialists. 

How the Key Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit 

Our audit procedures related to the future copper and gold prices, discount rate and ability and timing to restart mine 
operations at Mount Polley and Huckleberry mines used in the assessment of indicators of impairment or impairment 
reversal included the following, among others: 

• Evaluated the future copper and gold prices by comparing management’s forecasts to third party forecasts. 

• Evaluated the discount rate by comparing the key inputs to market data. 

• With the assistance of fair value specialists, assessed the ability and timing to restart mine operations at Mount Polley 
and Huckleberry mines by evaluating the impact of deferring mine restart dates against the life of mine plans. 

Red Chris Mine Joint Operations - Mineral Properties – Refer to Notes 2, 3 and 4 to the financial statements 

Key Audit Matter Description 

On August 15, 2019 the Company and Newcrest entered into an unincorporated arrangement for the operation of the Red 
Chris mine with Newcrest acting as operator. The beneficial interests in the Red Chris mine are owned 70% by Newcrest 
and 30% by the Company. As of that date, the Company recorded its proportionate interest of the provisional fair values of 
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the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of the newly formed joint venture. During the third quarter of 2020, the 
provisional fair values were finalized taking into consideration updated information obtained during the measurement 
period. Management estimated the fair value of the mineral properties (specifically open pit, underground mines, 
additional resources and property, plant and equipment) using a discounted cash flow model, market approach and 
replacement-cost approach, respectively, which required estimates and assumptions.  

While there are many estimates and assumptions that management makes to determine the fair value of the mineral 
properties (specifically open pit, underground mines and additional resources) of Red Chris mine, the assumptions with the 
highest degree of subjectivity are future commodity prices, discount rates and the in-situ multiples. Our audit procedures 
to evaluate the reasonableness of these estimates and assumptions required a high degree of auditor judgment and an 
increased extent of audit effort, including the involvement of fair value specialists. 

How the Key Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit 

Our audit procedures related to the future commodity prices, discount rates and the in-situ multiples used to determine 
the fair value of mineral properties of Red Chris mine included the following, among others: 

• With the assistance of fair value specialists: 

• Evaluated the future commodity prices by comparing management’s forecasts to third party forecasts. 

• Evaluated the reasonableness of the discount rates by testing the source information underlying the determination 
of the discount rates and developing a range of independent discount rates and comparing to the discount rates 
selected by management. 

• Evaluated the reasonableness of the in-situ multiples applied to the mineral properties by comparing to 
independent market data. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises: 

• Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

• The information, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, in the Annual Report.  

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have 
performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact in this auditor’s report. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of the auditor’s report. If, based on the work we 
will perform on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS, 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Leigh Derksen. 
 
/s/ “Deloitte LLP” 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Vancouver, British Columbia 
March 17, 2021 
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Notes 

December 31 
2020 

December 31 
2019 

(Note 4(b)) 

ASSETS     
Current Assets    
   Cash   $34,019 $89,953 
   Marketable securities   130 39 
   Trade and other receivables  5,968 5,759 
   Inventory  5 12,420 13,080 
   Prepaid expenses and deposits  2,840 2,968 

  55,377 111,799 
Mineral Properties  6 979,484 936,161 
Other Assets  7 45,230 46,413 
Deferred Income Tax Assets  11,230 9,115 

   $1,091,321 $1,103,488 

LIABILITIES    
Current Liabilities    
   Trade and other payables  $44,170 $50,950 
   Taxes payable  313 809 
   Provision for rehabilitation costs  762 1,146 
   Current portion of debt 11 840 1,300 
   Other obligations 9 - 3,933 

  46,085 58,138 
Provision for Rehabilitation Costs  308 938 
Non-Current Debt  11 1,582 2,516 
Deferred Trade Payables 8 - 4,686 
Future Site Reclamation Provisions 12 127,828 115,187 
Deferred Income Tax Liabilities 18 187,035 189,244 

  362,838 370,709 

EQUITY     
Share Capital  13 319,216 319,216 
Contributed Surplus  41,028 40,302 
Currency Translation Adjustment  7,632 7,762 
Retained Earnings   360,607 365,499 

  728,483 732,779 

  $1,091,321 $1,103,488 

Commitments and Pledges  23    
Contingent Liabilities   24   

 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements. 
 

Approved by the Board and authorized for issue on March 17, 2021 

 

/s/ Larry G. Moeller  /s/ J. Brian Kynoch 

Director  Director 
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Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts 

 

 

Imperial Metals Corporation | Financial Statements |   December 31, 2020 | # 6 

 

 
Notes 

2020 
 

2019 
(Note 4(b)) 

    

Revenue  $148,097 $71,823 
Cost of Sales 14 (127,470) (79,557) 

Income (Loss) from Mine Operations  20,627 (7,734) 
General and Administration  (3,934) (4,732) 
Idle Mine Costs  (22,342) (16,526) 
Interest Expense 15 (1,358) (46,273) 
Other Finance (Loss) Income  16 (1,890) 5,393 
Other Income   31 255 

Loss before Taxes   (8,866) (69,617) 
Income and Mining Tax Recovery  18 3,974 28,393 

Net Loss from continuing operations  (4,892) (41,224) 

Net Income from discontinued operations  
3 - 360,671 

    
Net (Loss) Income    (4,892) 319,447 

    

Other Comprehensive Loss    

Currency translation adjustment  (130) (332) 

Total Comprehensive (Loss) Income    $(5,022) $319,115 

    
Loss from Continuing Operations Per Share   
  Basic   $(0.04) $(0.32) 
  Diluted   $(0.04) $(0.32) 
    
Income from Discontinued Operations Per Share   
  Basic   - $2.83 
  Diluted   - $2.83 
    
(Loss) Income Per Share    
  Basic  19 $(0.04) $2.51 
  Diluted  19 $(0.04) $2.51 
    
Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding    
  Basic   128,490,174 127,277,090 
  Diluted   128,490,174 127,277,090 
 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements. 
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 Share Capital   Currency   

 

Number of 
Shares Amount  

Contributed 
Surplus 

Translation 
Adjustment 

Retained 
Earnings Total 

Balance December 31, 2018 120,782,585 $304,364  $45,411 $8,094 $45,363 $403,232 

Issued for payment of interest on debt 7,707,589 14,852  - - - 14,852 

Expiry of warrants - -  (689) - 689 - 

Loss on early repayment of interest for debt - -  (4,628) - - (4,628) 

Share based compensation expense - -  208 - - 208 
Total comprehensive income 
 (as restated, Note 4(b)) - -  - (332) 319,447 319,115 

Balance December 31, 2019 
(as restated, Note 4(b)) 128,490,174 $319,216  $40,302 $7,762 $365,499 $732,779 

        
Balance December 31, 2019 
  (as restated, Note 4(b)) 128,490,174 $319,216  $40,302 $7,762 $365,499 $732,779 

Share based compensation expense - -  726 - - 726 

Total comprehensive loss - -   (130) (4,892) (5,022) 

Balance December 31, 2020 128,490,174 $319,216  $41,028 $7,632 $360,607 $728,483 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements. 

 
 
 



     
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts 
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Notes 

2020 2019 
(Note 4(b)) 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Loss before taxes   $(8,866) $(69,617) 
Items not affecting cash flows    

Depletion and depreciation  40,288 21,095 
Share based compensation  726 215 
Accretion of future site reclamation provisions  2,764 2,745 
Unrealized foreign exchange losses (gains)   1,113 (9,548) 
Fair value adjustment for debt settled in common shares  - 3,328 
Loss on repayment of convertible debentures  - 1,766 
Interest expense  1,358 46,273 
Other  (122) 132 

  37,261 (3,611) 
Net change in non-cash operating working capital balances  17 (11,694) (1,009) 
Income and mining taxes (paid) refunded, net  (483) 10,522 
Interest paid  (1,241) (53,259) 

Operating cash flows provided by (used in) continuing operations  23,843 (47,357) 
Operating cash flows provided by discontinued operations  3 - 30,662 

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities  23,843 (16,695) 
 

   

FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Repayment of non-current debt  (437) (864,161) 
Lease payments 11 (1,060) (468) 
Proceeds of short term debt   - 50,381 
Repayment of short term debt   - (172,257) 
Proceeds of non-current debt, net of deferred financing costs  - 130,704 

Cash used in financing activities in continuing operations  (1,497) (855,801) 
Cash used in financing activities in discontinued operations 3 - (5,362) 

Cash used in financing activities   (1,497) (861,163) 
 

   

INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Acquisition and development of mineral properties 6 (73,601) (19,952) 
Payments of other obligations  (3,933) (11,135) 
Proceeds on sale of mineral properties  438 42 
Proceeds on sale of marketable securities  - 1,234 
Other investing items   (45) 1,695 

Investing cash flows used in continuing operations  (77,141) (28,116) 
Investing cash flows provided by discontinued operations 3 - 977,762 

Cash (used in) provided by investing activities  (77,141) 949,646 
 

   

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ON CASH   (1,139) (409) 

(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH   (55,934) 71,379 

CASH, BEGINNING OF PERIOD  89,953 18,574 

CASH, END OF PERIOD  $34,019 $89,953 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

Imperial Metals Corporation (the “Company”) is incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada, 
and its principal business activity is the exploration, development, and production of base and precious metals, gold/copper 
concentrate from its mineral properties. The head office, principal address and registered and records office of the Company 
are located at 580 Hornby Street, Suite 200, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3B6. The Company’s shares are listed 
as symbol “III” on the Toronto Stock Exchange.  

The Company’s key projects are: 

• 30% interest in the Red Chris copper-gold mine in northwest British Columbia; 

• Mount Polley copper-gold mine in central British Columbia; and 

• Huckleberry copper mine in west central British Columbia.  

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes the Company will 
continue operating in the foreseeable future and will be able to service its debt obligations, realize its assets and discharge 
its liabilities in the normal course as they come due. The Company has in place a planning, budgeting, and forecasting 
process to determine the funds required to support the Company’s operations and expansionary plans.  

COVID-19 (the coronavirus) has resulted in a slowdown in the global economy as well as caused volatility in the global   
markets. The widespread impact of COVID-19 had some adverse effect on the Company's operating and financing 
capabilities, such as travel restrictions and social distancing, however the impact is not significant as Mount Polley and 
Huckleberry mine sites are on care and maintenance. Should the length or severity of the pandemic be prolonged for an 
extended period, this could have a significant adverse impact on the Company's financial position and results of operations 
for future periods. 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Statement of Compliance  

These consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The preparation of consolidated financial 
statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.  

Basis of Presentation 

The Company’s consolidated financial statements and those of all of its controlled subsidiaries are presented in Canadian 
dollars as this is the presentation and functional currency for all its operations except for the Company’s US subsidiary, 
Sterling Gold Mining Corporation, which has US dollars as its functional currency. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for certain financial 
instruments measured at fair value.  

Basis of Consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and those entities which are controlled by 
the Company. Control is achieved when the Company has power over the investee; is exposed to or has rights to variable 
returns from its investment with the investee; and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. All inter-company 
balances, transactions, revenues and expenses have been eliminated upon consolidation.   
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Joint Ventures 

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject 
to joint control and whereby each party has rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint control is considered to exist 
when all parties to the joint arrangement are required to reach unanimous consent over decisions about relevant business 
activities pertaining to the contractual arrangement. Interests in joint ventures are recognized as an investment and 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 

Joint Operations 

A joint operation is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject 
to joint control and whereby each party has rights to the assets and liabilities relating to the arrangement. Joint control is 
considered to exist when all parties to the joint arrangement are required to reach unanimous consent over decisions about 
relevant business activities pertaining to the contractual arrangement. Interests in joint operations are accounted for by 
recognizing the Company’s share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses incurred jointly. 

Joint Operations Without Sharing Control 

The Company participates in an unincorporated arrangement relating to its interest in the Red Chris mine and has rights to 
its share of the undivided assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the property, subject to the arrangement, rather than 
a right to a net return, and does not share joint control. All such amounts are measured in accordance with the terms of 
the arrangement, which is based on the Company’s proportionate interest in the asset, liabilities, revenues and 
expenditures of the property and recorded in the financial statements in the appropriate line items according to their 
nature. The Company’s proportionate share includes certain adjustments to ensure consistency of accounting policies with 
those of the Company. 

Business Combinations and Goodwill  

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling 
interests (“NCI”) in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Company elects whether to measure the NCI in the 
acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are 
expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.  

When the Company acquires a business, it assesses the assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date. Mineral reserves, resources and exploration potential that can be reliably measured are recognized 
separately in the assessment of fair values on acquisition. Other potential reserves, resources and rights, for which fair 
values cannot be reliably measured, are not recognized separately, but instead are subsumed in goodwill.  

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition-date 
fair value, and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. It 
is then considered in the determination of goodwill.  

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IFRS 
9 is measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9 is  
measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.  

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognized for NCI over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Company reassesses whether it 
has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to 
measure the amounts to be recognized at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value 
of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income.  
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After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, if any. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Company’s cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other 
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.  

Inventory 

Copper concentrates, inclusive of contained gold and silver, and costs associated with stockpile ore are valued on a first in first 
out basis at the lower of production cost to produce saleable metal and net realizable value.  Net realizable value is calculated 
as described under “Revenue Recognition”. Production costs include direct labour, operating materials and supplies, 
transportation costs and applicable overhead, and depletion and depreciation.  

Stores and supplies inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes acquisition cost and any 
directly related costs, including freight. 

The portion of the ore stockpile and supplies that are to be processed/used more than 12 months from the reporting date and 
critical spare items, which might impact production if unavailable, are classified as other assets. 

Materials and supplies are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Any provision for obsolescence is determined by 
reference to specific items of stock and a general allowance for obsolescence. A regular review is undertaken to determine the 
extent of any provision for obsolescence. 

Mineral Properties 

Mineral properties represent capitalized expenditures related to the development of mining properties, related plant and 
equipment, expenditures related to exploration activities and expenditures arising from property acquisitions.  Capitalized costs 
include interest and financing costs for amounts borrowed to develop mining properties and construct facilities, and operating 
costs, net of revenues, incurred prior to the commencement of commercial production. 

The costs associated with mineral properties are separately allocated to reserves, resources and exploration potential, and 
include acquired interests in production, development and exploration stage properties representing the fair value at the time 
they were acquired. The value associated with resources and exploration potential is the value beyond proven and probable 
reserves assigned through acquisition. The value allocated to reserves is depleted on a unit-of-production method over the 
estimated recoverable proven and probable reserves at the mine. The reserve value is noted as mineral properties being 
depleted in Note 6. 

The resource value represents the property interests that are contained in the measured and indicated resources that are not 
within the proven and probable reserves. Exploration potential is (i) mineralization included in inferred resources; (ii) areas of 
potential mineralization not included in any resource category. 

Resource value and exploration potential value is noted as mineral properties not being depleted in Note 6.  At least annually or 
when otherwise appropriate and subsequent to its review and evaluation for impairment, value from the non-depletable 
category is transferred to the depletable category if resources or exploration potential have been converted into reserves. 

Capitalized costs for mineral properties being depleted are depleted by property using the unit-of-production method over the 
estimated recoverable proven and probable reserves at the mines to which they relate. 

Commencement of Commercial Production 

On the commencement of commercial production, net costs are charged to operations using the unit-of-production method by 
property based upon estimated recoverable reserves.  Management considers a number of factors related to the ability of a 
property to operate at its design capacity over a specified period of time in determining when a property has reached 
commercial production. These factors include production levels as intended by management, plant throughput quantities, 
recovery rates, and number of uninterrupted days of production. 

  



    
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts 

 

 

Imperial Metals Corporation | Financial Statements |   December 31, 2020 | # 12 

 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Capitalized 
costs include the fair value of consideration given to acquire or construct an asset, capitalized interest related to that asset and 
includes the direct charges associated with bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for placing it into use along 
with the future cost of dismantling and removing the asset.  

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

The costs of major overhauls of parts of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is 
probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company, and its cost can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 
equipment are recognized in income or loss as incurred. 

Milling equipment and related buildings, intangible assets used in production, and tailings facilities are depleted on a unit-
of-production basis over the estimated recoverable proven and probable reserves at the mines to which they relate. 

Mobile mine equipment and vehicles are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets either on a unit-of-production 
basis or using the straight line method with useful lives of 4-12 years. Office, computer and communications equipment are 
depreciated using the straight line method with useful lives of 4-5 years. The estimated residual value and useful lives are 
reassessed at each year end and depreciation expense is adjusted on a prospective basis. 

Stripping Costs 

Costs associated with the removal of overburden and rock that are incurred in the production phase of mining operations are 
included in the cost of the inventory produced in the period in which they are incurred, except when the charges represent a 
betterment to the mineral property. Charges represent a betterment to the mineral property when the stripping activity 
provides access to reserves that will be produced in future periods that would not have been accessible without the stripping 
activity. When charges are deferred in relation to a betterment, the charges are amortized over the reserve accessed by the 
stripping activity using the unit-of-production method as these reserves will directly benefit from the deferred stripping costs 
incurred.  

Assessment of Impairment 

Management reviews the carrying value of exploration and evaluation properties at the end of each reporting period for 
evidence of impairment. This review is generally made with reference to timing of exploration work, work programs proposed, 
and the exploration results achieved by the Company and by others in the related area of interest.  

Post-feasibility exploration properties, producing mining properties and plant and equipment are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period for evidence of impairment at the cash generating unit (CGU) level.  A CGU is defined as the smallest identifiable 
group of assets that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of 
assets.  If any such indication exists, the entity shall estimate the recoverable amount of the CGU to determine if it exceeds the 
CGU’s carrying value.   

The recoverable amount for a CGU is the greater of the fair value less cost of disposal (FVLCD) and the value in use.  Fair value 
less cost of disposal is the amount that would be received by the Company to sell a CGU in a transaction between arms-length 
parties less any costs directly attributable to the disposal of the CGU.  Value in use is the present value of future cash flows 
expected to be derived by the Company from the CGU, which is estimated using discounted cash flow techniques.  When it is 
not possible to determine fair value less cost of disposal by quotes from an active market, a written offer to purchase the CGU, 
or a binding sales agreement to purchase the CGU, the Company estimates the fair value less cost of disposal using discounted 
cash flow techniques.  Resources in the measured and indicated categories are valued using estimated fair values based on 
market transactions.  
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Discounted cash flow techniques are dependent on a number of factors, including future metal prices, the amount of reserves, 
resources and exploration potential, the cost of bringing the project into production, production schedules, production costs, 
sustaining capital expenditures, and future site reclamation costs. Additionally, the reviews take into account factors such as 
political, social, legal and environmental regulations. These factors may change due to changing economic conditions or the 
accuracy of certain assumptions and, hence, affect the recoverable amount. The Company uses its best efforts in assessing these 
factors. 

Post-feasibility exploration properties, producing mining properties and plant and equipment that have been impaired in prior 
periods are tested for evidence of possible impairment reversal whenever events or significant changes in circumstances indicate 
that the impairment may have been reversed. Indicators of a potential reversal of an impairment loss mainly mirror the 
indicators present when the impairment was originally recorded 

An impairment loss or reversal thereof is recognized in income or loss to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds or is below 
the recoverable amount. 

Leases 

• Right-of-use assets. The Company recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date 
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes 
the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Company is reasonably certain to obtain ownership 
of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of its 
estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. 

• Lease liabilities. At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes lease liabilities measured at the 
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including 
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a 
rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise 
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating 
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do 
not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers 
the payment occurs. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses the incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the 
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a 
change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase 
the underlying asset.  

• Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its 
short-term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition 
exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

• Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options. The Company determines the 
lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease 
if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably 
certain not to be exercised. The Company applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise 
the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the 
renewal. After the commencement date, the Company reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change 
in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew (e.g., 
a change in business strategy).  
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Future Site Reclamation Costs 

The Company’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various statutory, contractual or legal obligations for 
protection of the environment. At the date the obligation is incurred, the Company records a liability, discounted to net 
present value, for the best estimate of future costs to retire an asset including costs for dismantling, remediation and 
ongoing treatment and monitoring of the site.  The present value is determined using a pre-tax risk free interest rate. The 
liability is accreted over time to the estimated amount ultimately payable through periodic charges to income or loss. The 
estimated present value of the future site reclamation costs are reviewed for material changes at each reporting date and 
re-measured at least annually or when there are significant changes in the assumptions giving rise to the estimated cash 
flows. 

Future site reclamation costs are capitalized as part of the carrying value of the related mineral property at its initial 
discounted value and amortized over the useful life of the mineral property using the unit-of-production method.  
Subsequent changes to future site reclamation costs are recorded with a corresponding change to the carrying amounts of 
related mineral property. 

Income and Mining Taxes 

The Company accounts for income and mining taxes using the liability method.  Under this method, deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities are recorded based on temporary differences between the financial reporting basis of the Company’s 
assets and liabilities and their corresponding tax basis. The future benefits of deferred tax assets, including unused tax losses 
and tax credits, are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against the deductible 
temporary difference and the tax loss and tax credits can be utilized.  These deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to apply when the tax liabilities or assets are 
to be either settled or realized.   

In a business combination, temporary differences arise as a result of differences in the fair values of identifiable assets and 
liabilities acquired and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the tax effects of 
these differences. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized for temporary differences arising from goodwill or 
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities acquired in a transaction other than a business combination which does 
not affect either accounting or taxable income or loss. Government assistance, including investment tax credits, is credited 
against the expenditure generating the assistance when it is probable that the government assistance will be realized. 

Revenue Recognition 

The revenue from sale of concentrate is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration that the Company expects 
to receive. The Company established a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers: to 
identify the contract(s) with the customer, identify the performance obligations in the contract, determine the transaction 
price, allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation and recognize revenue as each performance obligation 
is satisfied. The Company exercises judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances when 
applying each step of revenue recognition model to contracts with customers. 

The revenue from the sale of concentrate is recognized at the point in time when control of the concentrate passes to the 
customer which occurs when title transfer to the customer which is generally on the date of shipment. 

Revenue is recorded in the statement of income and comprehensive income net of treatment and refining costs and 
royalties paid to counterparties under terms of the off take arrangements. The estimated revenue is recorded based on 
metal prices and exchange rates on the date of shipment and is adjusted at each reporting date to the metal prices at the 
date of settlement.  The actual amounts will be reflected in revenue upon final settlement, which could be as long as four 
to five months after the date of shipment. These adjustments reflect changes in metal prices and changes in quantities 
arising from final weight and assay calculations. The adjustments are constrained and are only recognized to the extent that 
it is highly probable that a significant reversal of in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur.  
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Financial Assets 

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at either amortized cost or fair value 
through profit or loss, depending on the classification of the financial assets.  

The classification of assets is driven by the Company’s business model for managing financial assets and their contractual 
cash flow characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them. Trade receivables that do not contain a 
significant financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient for contracts that have a 
maturity of a year or less, are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with revenue 
recognition accounting policy. For other financial assets, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value 
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transactions costs. The Company records the fair 
value of marketable securities at the reporting date using quoted market prices. 

The Company has categorized its financial assets in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard 9, Financial 
Instruments (“IFRS 9”) into one of the following two categories: 

Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 

Includes equity investments, gold and copper price contract assets, gold and copper swap contracts, copper forward 
contracts, and other financial assets designated to this category under the fair value option. The Company has assessed the 
contractual cash flows of its provisionally priced contracts in accordance with IFRS 9 and has classified these receivables as 
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 

Includes cash, future site reclamation deposits and trade receivables at amortized cost. 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the date of the 
statement of financial position. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the last bid price 
of the day. 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are subject to an allowance for expected credit losses based on the historic 
experience realizing these assets and information available about the probability of future collection. The Company applies 
a simplified lifetime expected credit loss model to measure expected credit losses for trade and other receivables that are 
not measured at FVTPL.  

Impairment losses are recognized in income or loss in the period they occur based on the difference between the carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

The Company recognizes an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for its financial instruments with a corresponding 
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account. 

Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are accounted for at amortized cost except for those at FVTPL which includes liabilities designated as 
FVTPL and derivatives. Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL or those which are designated as FVTPL under the fair value 
option are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized in net earnings. In cases where financial 
liabilities are designated as FVTPL, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other 
comprehensive income rather than the statements of operations. Financial liabilities at amortized cost are initially 
measured at fair value net of transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortized cost. 

The Company has classified its financial liabilities in accordance with IFRS 9 into one of the following two categories: 

Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 

Includes settlement payables related to copper price option contract liabilities. 

Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost 

Includes trade and other payables and long‐term debt. 
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Foreign Currency Translation 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Company’s subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). Foreign currency transactions are 
translated into the functional currency using the actual rate prevailing at the date of transaction. Each reporting period 
foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities not denominated in the functional currency of the entity are recognized in the statement of income 
and comprehensive income.  

Assets and liabilities of entities with functional currencies other than Canadian dollars are translated at the period end rates 
of exchange, and the results of their operations are translated at the actual rate prevailing at the date of transaction. Equity 
is translated at historical cost. The resulting translation adjustments are included in currency translation adjustment in other 
comprehensive income. Additionally, foreign exchange gains and losses related to the settlement of certain intercompany 
loans are also included in equity as the settlement of these loans is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable 
future. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to debt are presented in the statement of income and comprehensive income 
within “Finance Costs”. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of income and 
comprehensive income within “General and Administration”. 

Reportable Segment Information 

The Company’s operations are primarily directed towards the exploration, development and production from its mineral 
properties in Canada. The Company has five reportable segments, Red Chris, including related exploration and development 
activities, Mount Polley, including related exploration and development activities, Huckleberry, including related 
exploration and development activities, Sterling, including related exploration and development activities and Corporate, 
including all other properties and related exploration and development activities.  

Share Based Payments 

The Company has a share option plan that provides all option holders the right to receive common shares in exchange for 
the options exercised which is described in Note 13.  The fair value of each option award that will ultimately vest is estimated 
on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.   Compensation expense is determined when stock 
options are granted and recognized in operations over the vesting period of the option.  Consideration received on the 
exercise of stock options is recorded as share capital and the related share-based amounts of contributed surplus are 
credited to share capital. 

Borrowing Costs 

The Company expenses borrowing costs when they are incurred, unless they are directly attributable to the acquisition of 
mineral properties or construction of property, plant and equipment extending over a period of more than twelve months. 

Income (Loss) Per Common Share 

Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the period.  Diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed in accordance with the treasury stock method 
and “if converted” method, as applicable, which uses the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during 
the period and also includes the dilutive effect of potentially issuable common shares from outstanding stock options, 
warrants and convertible debentures.  
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Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
judgments and estimates and form assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. On an ongoing basis, 
management evaluates its judgments and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management 
uses historical experience and various other factors it believes to be reasonable under the given circumstances as the basis 
for its judgments and estimates. Actual outcomes may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and 
conditions. 

(i) Critical Judgments 

Critical judgments exercised in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized 
in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

Revenue Recognition 

Determination of performance obligations. The Company applied judgement to determine if a good or service that is 
promised to a customer is distinct based on whether the customer can benefit from the good or service on its own or 
together with other readily available resources and whether the good or service is separately identifiable. Based on these 
criteria, the Company determined the primary performance obligation relating to its sales contracts is the delivery of the 
concentrates. Shipping and insurance services arranged by the Company for its concentrate sales customers that occur after 
the transfer of control are also considered to be performance obligations.  

Transfer of control. Judgement is required to determine when transfer of control occurs relating to the sale of the 
Company’s concentrate to its customers. Management based its assessment on a number of indicators of control, which 
include, but are not limited to whether the Company has present right of payment, and whether the physical possession of 
the goods, significant risks and rewards and legal title have been transferred to the customer.  

Variable consideration. Variable consideration should only be recognized to the extent that it is highly probable that a 
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. The Company identified a variable 
component of its revenue for concentrate sales relating to adjustments to the final sales price based on differences between 
the original and final assay results relating to the quantity and quality of concentrate shipments. Based on the Company ’s 
proficiency in its assaying process, evidenced by the insignificant amount of historical adjustments from the initial to final 
assays, the Company concluded the variability in consideration caused by assaying results was negligible. Therefore, the 
Company does not expect a significant amount of reversal in revenue related to assaying differences.  

Impairment of Mineral Properties  

Both external and internal information is reviewed and considered by management in their assessment of whether there 
are indicators that mineral properties and goodwill are impaired. External sources of information include changes in the 
market, economic and legal environment, in which the Company operates, that are not within its control and affect the 
recoverable amount of its mineral properties, plant and equipment. The internal sources of information include the manner 
in which mineral properties, plant and equipment are being used or are expected to be used and indications of economic 
performance of assets. In determining the recoverable amounts of producing mineral properties and goodwill management 
estimates the discounted future pre-tax cash flows expected to be derived from the Company’s producing mineral 
properties. Reductions in commodity prices, increases in estimated future production and capital costs, reductions in 
mineral reserves and exploration potential and adverse economic events can result in impairment charges.  In determining 
the economic recoverability and probability of future economic benefit of non-producing mineral properties management 
also considers geological information, likelihood of conversion of resources to reserves, estimated market values of 
measured and indicated resources, scoping and feasibility studies, permitting, infrastructure, development costs, and life 
of mine plans.  
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Interests in Other Entities 

As part of its process in determining the classification of its interests in other entities, the Company applies judgment in 
interpreting these interests such as  

• the determination of the level of control or significant influence held by the Company;  
• the accounting standard’s applicability to the operations;  
• the legal structure and contractual terms of the arrangement;  
• concluding whether the Company has rights to assets and liabilities or to net assets of the arrangement; and  
• when relevant, other facts and circumstances. 

The Company has determined that Newcrest Red Chris Joint Venture represent joint operations without sharing control and 
Ruddock Creek Joint Venture is joint operations with shared control. 

Functional Currency 

The functional currency for each of the Company’s subsidiaries is the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates.  The Canadian dollar is the functional currency for all operations of the Company except for the 
Company’s US subsidiary which uses the US dollar as its functional currency. Determination of the functional currency 
involves certain judgments to determine the primary economic environment of each entity. If events and conditions in this 
environment change then the Company may need to reconsider the functional currency of these entities.  

Contingencies  

Contingencies can be either possible assets or liabilities arising from past events which, by their nature, will be resolved 
only when one or more uncertain future events occur or fail to occur. Such contingencies include, but are not limited to, 
environmental obligations, litigation, regulatory proceedings, tax matters and losses that result from other events and 
developments. The assessment of the existence and potential impact of contingencies inherently involves the exercise of 
significant judgement regarding the outcome of future events. 

 (ii)  Critical Estimates and Assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year, are described below: 

Reserve and Resource Estimates  

The Company estimates its reserves and resources based on information compiled by Qualified Persons as defined in accordance 
with Canadian Securities Administrators National Instrument 43-101 Standards for Disclosure of Mineral Projects. There are 
numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating reserves and resources, including many factors beyond the Company’s control.  
Assumptions used in estimating reserves and resources include the forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production 
and capital costs, recovery rates and judgments used in engineering and geological interpretation of available data.   
Assumptions that are valid at the time of estimation may change significantly when new information becomes available. 

Estimated reserves are used in the calculation of depreciation and depletion, impairment assessment on mineral properties and 
goodwill, assessment of life of pit stripping ratios and for forecasting the timing of future site reclamation costs. Therefore, 
changes in the estimates and assumptions used to determine reserves could have a material effect in the future on the 
Company’s financial position and results of operations. 

Depletion and Depreciation of Mineral Properties 

Depletion and depreciation of mineral properties is based on the estimated mineral reserves for each mineral property 
subject to depletion and estimated useful lives and depreciation rates for property, plant and equipment. Should asset life, 
depletion rates or depreciation rates differ from the initial estimate then this would impact the carrying value of the assets 
resulting in the adjustment being recognized in the consolidated statement of income.   
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Stripping Costs 

The determination of costs associated with the removal of overburden and rock involve estimates related to whether or not 
these costs represent a betterment to the mineral property. Management uses several factors to determine whether to 
capitalize stripping costs including quantity and grade of materials being accessed, estimated future commodity prices, operating 
costs and life of mine plan. If any of these factors change then the determination of which materials are included in stripping 
costs may change resulting in higher mine operating costs in future periods. 

Future Site Reclamation Provisions 
Future site reclamation provisions represent management’s estimate of the present value of future cash outflows required 
to settle estimated reclamation obligations at the end of a mine’s life. The provision incorporates estimated future costs, 
inflation, and risks associated with the future cash outflows, discounted at the risk free rate for the future cash outflows. 
Changes in any of these factors can result in a change to future site reclamation provisions and the related accretion of 
future site reclamation provisions.  Changes to future site reclamation provisions are charged or credited to mineral 
properties and may result in changes to future depletion expense.  

Provision for Rehabilitation Costs 

The provision for rehabilitation costs represents management’s estimate of the future cash outflows required to settle the 
estimated rehabilitation costs related to the August 4, 2014 Mount Polley mine tailings dam breach. The provision 
incorporates the Company’s estimate of costs for rehabilitation, including geotechnical investigations, environmental 
monitoring, community relations, communications and related corporate support costs. The provision is based on the scope 
and timing of work as determined by the Company in consultation with regulatory agencies and incorporates the risks 
associated with each activity. Changes in any of these factors can result in a change to the provision for rehabilitation costs.  

Income Taxes 

In determining tax assets and liabilities and related tax expense management makes estimates of future taxable income, 
tax rates, expected timing of reversals of existing temporary differences and the likelihood that tax returns as filed by the 
Company will be assessed by taxation authorities as filed. Recoveries of deferred tax assets require management to assess 
the likelihood that the Company will generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to recognize the deferred tax 
assets. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing 
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the 
ability of the Company to realize the deferred tax assets could be impacted. 

Share Based Compensation 

The Company uses the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model for valuation of share based compensation. This pricing model 
requires the input of subjective assumptions including expected price volatility, interest rate and estimated forfeiture rate. 
Changes in these assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate of share based compensation and the related 
equity accounts of the Company. 

New Standards, Interpretations and Amendments    

The Company has not adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.  
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3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

On February 20, 2019, the Company initiated a process for the sale of the Red Chris mine.  On March 10, 2019, the Company 
entered into a binding agreement to sell a 70% interest in the Red Chris mine to Newcrest, while retaining a 30% beneficial 
interest in the mine. The disposal was completed on August 15, 2019, on which date control passed to Newcrest. 

For the period January 1 to August 14, 2019, the net income from the Red Chris mine is reported as income from discontinued 
operations. From August 15, 2019 onwards, the results from the Red Chris mine are reported in the financial statements in 
the appropriate line items according to their nature and represent the Company’s proportionate interest in the asset, 
liabilities, revenues and expenditures of the Red Chris mine. 

During the third quarter of 2020 the provisional fair values were finalized taking into consideration updated information 
obtained during the measurement period (Note 4(b)). The comparative information on the discontinued operations for the 
period of January 1 to August 14, 2019 was revised to reflect the adjustments to the provisional amounts: 

 Period  
January 1 to August 14, 2019 

 As Previously 
Reported 

 
Adjustment 

 
As Adjusted 

Revenue $164,993 $1,074 $166,067 

Cost of Sales  (149,947) (3,518) (153,465) 

Income from Mine Operations 15,046 (2,444) 12,602 

General and Administration (27) - (27) 

Interest Expense (2,797) - (2,797) 

Other Finance Income  99 - 99 

Other Expense  (95) - (95) 

Income before Taxes and Undernoted Items 12,226 (2,444) 9,782 

Gain on Sale and Revaluation of Interest in Red Chris mine 440,123 (148) 439,975 

Income before Taxes  452,349 (2,592) 449,757 

Income and Mining Tax Expense (90,347) 1,261 (89,086) 

Net Income from Discontinued Operations $362,002 $1,331 $360,671 
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The following table provides details of the cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities of the discontinued 
operations related to the period January 1 to August 14, 2019.  

  Period  
January 1 to  

August 14 

  2019 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Income before taxes from discontinued operations  $449,757 

Items not affecting cash flows   

Depletion and depreciation  9,412 

Share based compensation  (7) 

Foreign exchange gain  (761) 

  Gain on sale and revaluation of interest in Red Chris mine  (439,975) 

Accretion of future site reclamation provisions  280 

Interest expense  2,797 

  21,503 

Net change in non-cash operating working capital balances   10,319 

Income and mining taxes paid  (535) 

Interest paid  (625) 

Operating cash flows provided by discontinued operations   $30,662 

   

FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

Repayment of non-current debt  $(3,410) 

Lease payments   (1,952) 

Financing cash flows used in discontinued operations  $(5,362) 

   

INVESTING ACTIVITIES   

Acquisition and development of mineral properties  $(29,424) 

Proceeds on sale of 70% interest in Red Chris mine, net of transaction costs  1,006,512 

Net change in non-cash investing working capital balances   674 

Investing cash flows provided by discontinued operations  $977,762 
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4. RED CHRIS MINE JOINT OPERATIONS 

On August 15, 2019, the Company and Newcrest entered into an unincorporated arrangement for the operation of the Red 
Chris mine with Newcrest acting as operator. The beneficial interests in the Red Chris mine are owned 70% by Newcrest 
and 30% by the Company. Under the Red Chris Joint Venture, the Company has rights to its share of assets and liabilities of 
the arrangement rather than a right to a net return. The Company has recognized its interests in assets and liabilities, 
revenue, comprised of its share of the output from the unincorporated arrangement, and associated expenses. All such 
amounts have been measured in proportion to the Company’s 30% interest in the arrangement. These amounts have been 
recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and are classified according to their nature.  

In accordance with IFRS the acquisition of the 30% interest in the Red Chris Joint Venture is accounted for as a business 
combination. 

a) Finalized Fair Values 

During the third quarter of 2020 the provisional fair values were finalized taking into consideration updated information 
obtained during the measurement period. Details of the fair value of the aggregate consideration transferred and adjusted fair 
values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired at the date of the acquisition were as follows:  

 

August 15  
2019 

(Provisional) 
 

Adjustment 

August 15  
2019 

(Final) 

Assets and Liabilities acquired    
Inventory $8,868 $(62) $8,806 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 422 - 422 
Mineral properties 514,411 34,217 548,628 
Other assets 8,811 (841) 7,970 

Total Assets 532,512 33,314 565,826 
    
Trade and other payables (17,171) 186 (16,985) 
Lease obligations (4,000) - (4,000) 
Other obligations (16,144) 8 (16,136) 
Future site reclamation costs (5,293) (2,762) (8,055) 
Deferred Income Tax Liabilities (50,132) (31,556) (81,688) 

Total Liabilities (92,740) (34,124) (126,864) 

Total identifiable net assets at fair value $439,772  $(810) $438,962 

The Company used a discounted cash flow model to estimate the expected future cash flows of the open pit and 
underground mines, based on the life-of-mine plans. Expected future cash flows are based on estimates of future production 
and commodity prices, operating costs, and forecast capital expenditures using the life-of-mine plan as at the acquisition 
date. 

Additional resources which were not included in the life-of-mine plan were separately valued using a market approach, 
evaluating recent comparable transactions. 

A replacement-cost approach was used to determine the fair value of other property, plant and equipment. 
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b) Revised Comparative Consolidated Information Due to Finalized Fair Values 

The comparative information on the statement of consolidated financial position as at December 31, 2019 was revised to reflect 
the adjustments to the provisional amounts (Note 4(a)): 

  December 31, 2019 

 
  

As Previously 
Reported 

 
Adjustment 

 
As Adjusted 

Non-Current Assets     
  Mineral Properties   $890,334 $45,827 $936,161 
  Other Assets   47,254 (841) 46,413 

   937,588 44,986 982,574 
  Current Liabilities     
    Trade and other payables  $49,300 $1,650 $50,950 
    Taxes payable  868 (59) 809 
  Future Site Reclamation Provisions  99,503 15,684 115,187 
  Deferred Income Tax Liabilities  159,244 30,000 189,244 

  308,915 47,275 356,190 
      
Retained Earnings  $367,788 $(2,289) $365,499 

The comparative information on the statement of consolidated income and comprehensive income for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 was revised to reflect the adjustments to the provisional amounts: 

  Year Ended December 31, 2019 

 
 

As Previously  
Reported Adjustment As Adjusted 

      
Cost of Sales  $(78,392) $(1,165) $(79,557) 
Loss from Mine Operations  $(6,569) $(1,165) $(7,734) 
Other Finance Income     $5,540 $(147) $5,393 
Loss before Taxes  $(68,305) $(1,312) $(69,617) 
Income and Mining Tax Recovery  $28,039 $354 $28,393 
Net Loss from Continuing Operations  $(40,266) $(958) $(41,224) 
Net Income from Discontinued Operations   $362,002 $(1,331) $360,671 
Net Income   $321,736 $(2,289) $319,447 
Total Comprehensive Income   $321,404 $(2,289) $319,115 

The comparative information on the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 was revised 
to reflect the adjustments to the provisional amounts: 

  Year Ended December 31, 2019 

 
 

As Previously 
Reported Adjustment As Adjusted 

Loss before Taxes from continuing operations  $(68,305) $(1,312) $(69,617) 
Depletion and depreciation  $19,930 $1,165 $21,095 
Accretion of future site reclamation provisions     $2,598 $147 $2,745 
Operating cash flows provided by discontinued operations  $29,202 $1,460 $30,662 
Investing cash flows provided by discontinued operations  $979,222 $(1,460) $977,762 
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5. INVENTORY 

 December 31 
2020 

December 31 
2019 

Stockpile ore $9,873 $11,200 
Concentrate 1,725 2,968 
Supplies 31,643 30,931 

Total inventories 43,241 45,099 
Less non-current inventories included in other assets (Note 7) (30,821) (32,019) 

Total current inventories  $12,420 $13,080 

During the year ended December 31, 2020 inventory of $118,661 was recognized in cost of sales (2019-$77,526) and an 
impairment charge of $1,158 (2019-$4,325) on stockpile ore, concentrate and supplies inventory was included in cost of sales 
and $Nil (2019-$230) was included in idle mine cost.  

At December 31, 2020, the Company had $23,893 (2019-$24,446) of inventory pledged as security for the credit facility (Note 

10).  
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6. MINERAL PROPERTIES    

 Mineral 
Properties 

being   
Depleted 

Mineral Properties not being Depleted 

Plant &  
Equipment Total Cost 

Projects  
not in  

Production 

Exploration  
& Evaluation 

Assets 

Balance December 31, 2018 $473,917 $43,667 $103,464 $1,442,334 $2,063,382 
Additions, reclass and change in 
estimates of future site reclamation 
provisions from continuing operations 23,087 2,568 1,484 13,751 40,890 

Additions, reclass and change in 
estimates of future site reclamation 
provisions from discontinued operations  3,163 53 - 29,371 32,587 

Reclassification 407 77 - (484) - 

Write down - - - (53) (53) 

Foreign exchange movement - - (332) (42) (374) 

Disposition of assets held for sale  (107,330) (43,797) - (1,128,139) (1,279,266) 
Acquisition of 30% of beneficial interest 
in Red Chris (Note 4 (b)) 274,201 - 68,972 205,455 548,628 

Balance December 31, 2019 (Note 4 (b)) 667,445 2,568 173,588 562,193 1,405,794 
Additions, reclass and change in 
estimates of future site reclamation 
provisions  30,622 13,801 (1,471) 40,605 83,557 

Disposals - - - (1,255) (1,255) 

Foreign exchange movement - - (130) (16) (146) 

Balance December 31, 2020 $698,067 $16,369 $171,987 $601,527 $1,487,950 

      
 Mineral 

Properties  
being  

Depleted 

Mineral Properties not being Depleted 

Plant & 
Equipment Total 

Accumulated depletion &  
 depreciation & impairment losses 

Projects  
not in  

Production 

Exploration  
& Evaluation 

Assets 

Balance December 31, 2018 $281,978 $   - $1,645 $346,976 $630,599 
Depletion and depreciation from 
continuing operations 6,266 - - 15,165 21,431 

Depletion and depreciation from 
discontinued operations 742 - - 6,021 6,763 

Write down - - - (47) (47) 

Foreign exchange movement - - - (42) (42) 

Disposition of assets held for sale  (25,830) - - (163,241) (189,071) 

Balance December 31, 2019 (Note 4 (b)) 263,156   - 1,645 204,832 469,633 

Depletion and depreciation 17,613 - - 22,065 39,678 

Disposals - - - (829) (829) 

Foreign exchange movement - - - (16) (16) 

Balance December 31, 2020 $280,769 $   - $1,645 $226,052 $508,466 

Carrying Amount      

Balance December 31, 2018 $191,939 $43,667 $101,819 $1,095,358 $1,432,783 

Balance December 31, 2019 (Note 4 (b)) $404,289 $2,568 $171,943 $357,361 $936,161 

Balance December 31, 2020 $417,298 $16,369 $170,342 $375,475 $979,484 
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Additions to Mineral Properties being Depleted for the year ended December 31, 2020 include an increase of $9,903, which 
represents a net change in estimates of future site reclamation provisions (December 31, 2019-increase of $24,082). 

At December 31, 2020, the net carrying value of the deferred stripping costs was $21,001 (December 31, 2019-$2,187) and is 
included in mineral properties. 

At December 31, 2020, leased mobile equipment at cost of $5,124 (December 31, 2019-$5,124) and accumulated 
depreciation of $1,062 (December 31, 2019-$316) was included with plant and equipment. 

At December 31, 2020, the Company had provided $28,370 (December 31, 2019-$28,370) of security for reclamation 
bonding obligations by securing certain plant and equipment.   

At December 31, 2020, the Company had $2,741 of contractual commitments (2019-$5,157) for expenditures on property, 
plant and equipment.   

Red Chris Mine 

Red Chris Development Company Ltd, a subsidiary of the Company, owns a 30% beneficial interest in the Red Chris 
copper/gold mine in northwest British Columbia. The Company and Newcrest formed a joint venture for the operation of 
Red Chris, with Newcrest Red Chris Mining Limited acting as operator. The property is comprised of the Red Chris Main 
claim group and the Red Chris South group, consisting of 77 mineral tenures (23,142 hectares). Five of these tenures are 
mining leases (5,141 hectares). Net smelter royalties between 1.0% to 2.0% are payable on production from the Red Chris 
mine.  

Mount Polley Mine 

The Mount Polley copper/gold mine in south-central British Columbia is owned by Mount Polley Mining Corporation, a 
subsidiary of the Company. The property encompasses 23,369 hectares (including claims under option) consisting of seven 
mining leases (2,007 hectares) and 50 mineral claims (21,362 hectares). A production royalty is payable on ore mined from 
Mining Lease 933970 but no production occurred on this tenure in 2019 or 2020. In October 2019, Mount Polley Mining 
Corporation optioned seven adjacent mineral tenures (3,331 hectares). Upon the exercising of the option on or before 
December 31, 2022, these claims will be subject to a production royalty payable on ore mined from the claims and milled 
in the Mount Polley processing plant. 

Mount Polley mine operations were suspended in May 2019, and the mine remains on care and maintenance until the 
economics of mining improve. 

Huckleberry Mine 

The Huckleberry copper mine in west-central British Columbia is owned by Huckleberry Mines Ltd., a subsidiary of the 
Company. The property encompasses 23,241 hectares, consisting of two mining leases (2,422 hectares) and 44 mineral 
claims (20,819 hectares).  

Huckleberry mine operations were suspended in August 2016, and the mine remains on care and maintenance status until 
the economics of mining improve. 

Other Exploration Properties 

The Company has interests in several early stage exploration properties located in Canada. These properties were primarily 
acquired by acquisition or amalgamation, and the cost of maintaining ownership is not significant. 

Impairment Analysis of Mineral Properties 

In accordance with its accounting policies and processes, each asset or cash-generating unit (“CGU”) is evaluated to 
determine whether there are any indications of impairment or impairment reversal. If any such indications of impairment 
exist, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is performed.  

Based on the Company’s assessment with respect to possible indicators of either impairment or reversal of previous 
impairments to its mineral properties, including the impact of COVID-19 on the operations and the prevailing market metals 
prices, the Company concluded that as of December 31, 2020 no impairment or impairment reversal indicators were 
identified. 
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7. OTHER ASSETS 

 December 31 
2020 

December 31 
2019 

Future site reclamation deposits $14,359 $14,319 
Non-current inventory – ore stockpile 9,873 10,201 
Non-current inventory – supplies, including critical spare parts 20,948 21,818 
Other 50 75 

 $45,230 $46,413 
 

8. DEFERRED PAYABLES 

Deferred trade payables consist of amounts invoiced for electricity billings by British Columbia Hydro and Power Authority 
(“BC Hydro”) that have been deferred pursuant to a tariff supplement. The tariff supplement allows for deferral of up to 
75% of the monthly electricity billing (the “Payment Plan”) depending on the average London Metals Exchange settlement 
copper price converted to CDN dollars at the Bank of Canada’s daily average closing exchange rate. The period for calculating 
the copper price in CDN dollars is the 30 day period prior to the billing date on the 15th of each month.  

Interest on the deferred amounts is charged and added to the deferred trade payables balance at Bank Prime Rate plus 5% 
except for Huckleberry which is at 12%.  

The balances as at December 31, 2019 are related to the Huckleberry mine. 

9. OTHER OBLIGATIONS 

Pursuant to a tariff supplement, the Company is obligated to reimburse BC Hydro for its portion of the costs related to BC Hydro’s 
construction of the Northwest Transmission Line which provides power to the Red Chris mine. On August 15, 2019 the obligation 
was transferred to the Red Chris Joint Venture. The amounts at December 31, 2019 represent the Company’s 30% share of the 
obligations of the Red Chris Joint Venture. 

10. CREDIT FACILITY 

At December 31, 2020 a credit facility aggregating $50,000 (December 31, 2019-$50,000) is due on October 9, 2021.  

The facility is secured by shares of all material subsidiaries and a floating charge on certain assets of the Company. A total of 
$38,478 (December 31, 2019-$38,583) has been utilized for letters of credit pledged for settlement of future site reclamation 
provisions and for other liabilities. 
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11. NON-CURRENT DEBT 

Amounts due for non-current debt are: 
 December 31 

2020 
December 31 

2019 

Equipment loans (a) $78 $515 

Equipment leases (b) 2,344 3,301 

  2,422 3,816 

Less portion due within one year  (840) (1,300) 

  $1,582 $2,516 
 

The Company has the following debt facilities: 

(a) Equipment Loans 

 The outstanding amount of equipment loans is $78 (December 31, 2019-$515) at a weighted average interest rate of 
4.30% with monthly payments of $4.  All equipment loans are secured by the financed equipment. 

(b) Equipment Leases 

  Interest 
Rate 

Monthly 
payment 

December 31 
2020 

December 31 
2019 

 Equipment Lease 6.25% $4 $   - $51 
 Equipment Lease 4.30% $80 $2,344 $3,250 
      
 Contractual Lease Payments     
  

  
December 31 

2020 
December 31 

2019 

 Due in less than one year   $960 $1,032 
 Due in one to two years   1,520 2,530 

 Total undiscounted lease liabilities, end of period   $2,480 $3,562 
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12. FUTURE SITE RECLAMATION PROVISIONS   

The Company has recognized provisions for future site reclamation at its Red Chris, Mount Polley, Huckleberry, Ruddock 
Creek and Catface properties.  Although the ultimate amounts of the future site reclamation provisions are uncertain, the 
provision of these obligations is based on information currently available, including closure plans and applicable regulations. 
The future site reclamation provision at Red Chris is provisional due to further valuation work needed on the fair values.  
Significant closure activities include land rehabilitation, water treatment, demolition of facilities, monitoring and other 
costs.  

Changes to the future site reclamation provisions are: 
 2020  2019 

(Note 4(b))  

Balance, beginning of year $115,187  $97,668 
Continuing operations:    

Accretion  2,764  2,745 
Change in estimates of future costs and discount rate   9,903  20,919 
Dilution in Ruddock Creek JV interest (26) - 
Acquisition of 30% beneficial interest in Red Chris mine - 5,293 

Discontinued operations (Note 3):    
Disposition of liabilities held for sale  -  (14,881) 

  Accretion   - 280 
Change in estimates of future costs and discount rate   -  3,163 

 $127,828 $115,187 

The total undiscounted amount of estimated future cash flows required to settle the obligations is $234,531 (December 31, 
2019-$181,271). The estimated future cash flows were then adjusted using a 1% (December 31, 2019 - 1.3%-2.0%) rate of 
inflation.  The estimated future cash flows have been discounted using a rate of 2.24% (December 31, 2019 - 2.67%) except for 
obligations related to Mount Polley and Huckleberry beyond 2050 that are discounted using a rate of 3.24% (December 31, 2019 
- 3.67%). Obligations in the amount of $113,020 are expected to be settled in the years 2021 through 2050. 

The amounts and timing of closure plans for the mineral properties will vary depending on a number of factors including 
exploration success and alternative mining plans.   
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13. SHARE CAPITAL 

(ii) Share Capital  

Authorized  
50,000,000  First Preferred shares without par value with special rights and restrictions to be determined by the 

directors, of which 3,100,000 have been designated as “Series A First Preferred shares” (issued and 
outstanding – nil) 

50,000,000   Second Preferred shares without par value with rights and restrictions to be determined by the directors 
(issued and outstanding – nil) 

  An unlimited number of Common Shares without par value  

(iii) Share Option Plans  

Under the Share Option Plans, options not exceeding 10% of the issued common shares of the Company, may be granted to its 
directors, officers and employees. At December 31, 2020, a total of 10,504,017 common share options had remained available 
for grant under the plans.  Under the plans, the exercise price of each option cannot be greater than the market price of the 
Company’s shares on the date of grant and an option’s maximum term is 10 years.  Options are granted from time to time by 
the Board of Directors and vest over a three or five year period.  

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company granted 1,305,000 stock options (2019 - nil) at a weighted average 
exercise price of $2.00 (2019 - $nil). The weighted average fair value for the options granted in the year ended December 31, 
2020 was $0.99 per option (2019 - $nil), which was estimated at the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model using the following weighted average assumptions: risk-free interest rate – 0.40% (2019- nil%); expected dividend yield - 
$nil (2019- $nil); expected stock price volatility – 71.82% (2019- nil%); expected option life - 5 years (2019- nil years); and, 
estimated forfeiture rate - 5.00% (2019- nil%). 

Movements in Share Options 

The changes in share options were as follows: 

 2020  2019 

        Number  
of Shares 

  Weighted Average 
         Exercise Price  

       Number                  
of Shares 

  Weighted Average 
         Exercise Price 

Outstanding at beginning of year 1,996,000 $9.62  2,594,000 $9.16 
Granted 1,305,000 $2.00  - $   - 
Forfeited - $  -  (86,000) $8.00 
Cancelled (6,000) $8.00  - $   - 
Expired (950,000) $11.55  (512,000) $5.74 

Outstanding at end of year 2,345,000 $4.60  1,996,000 $9.62 

Options exercisable at end of year 1,014,000 $7.91  1,762,000 $9.88 
 

The following table summarizes information about the Company’s share options outstanding at December 31, 2020: 

 Options Outstanding  Options Exercisable 

Exercise Prices 
Options 

Outstanding 

Remaining  
Contractual  
Life in Years 

 Options 
Outstanding & 

Exercisable 

Remaining 
Contractual   
Life in Years 

$2.00 1,305,000 4.33  - - 
$5.75 65,000 7.00  39,000 7.00 
$8.00 975,000 4.93  975,000 4.93 

 2,345,000 4.65  1,014,000 5.01 
 

No share options were exercised during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.  
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14. COST OF SALES  

 
   

2020 
 

2019 
(Note 4(b)) 

Operating expenses    $69,745 $45,022 
Salaries, wages and benefits    22,546 18,591 
Depletion and depreciation    35,179 15,944 

    $127,470 $79,557 
 

Included in cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2020 is $1,158 (December 31, 2019 - $4,325) of impairment charges 
in relation to stockpile ore, concentrate and supplies inventory.  

15. INTEREST EXPENSE  

    2020 2019 

Interest on non-current debt    $144 $37,569 
Other interest    1,214 8,704 

    $1,358 $46,273 
 

16. OTHER FINANCE (LOSS) INCOME  

    2020 2019 
(Note 4 (b)) 

Accretion of future site reclamation provisions      $(2,764) $(2,745) 
Foreign exchange gain on non-current debt    25 10,375 
Fair value adjustment on debt settled in common shares    - (3,328) 
Loss on early repayment of convertible debentures    - (1,766) 
Fair value adjustment to marketable securities    91 (304) 

    (2,648) 2,232 
Interest income    758 3,161 

Other finance (loss) income    $(1,890) $5,393 
 

17. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

Net change in non-cash operating working capital balances: 

    2020 2019 

Trade and other receivables    $31 $(3,896) 
Inventory    1,255 1,795 
Prepaid expenses and deposits    129 632 
Trade and other payables    (6,766) 4,149 
Deferred trade payables    (5,329) (2,441) 
Provision for rehabilitation costs    (1,014) (1,248) 

    $(11,694) $(1,009) 
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18. INCOME AND MINING TAX RECOVERY     

The reported income tax provision differs from the amounts computed by applying the Canadian federal and provincial 
statutory rates to the loss before income taxes due to the following reasons: 

 2020 
  

2019 
(Note (4(b)) 

 Amount %  Amount % 

Loss before taxes $(8,866) 100.0  $(69,617) 100.0 

Tax recovery thereon at statutory rates (2,394) (27.0)  (18,796) (27.0) 
Decrease (increase) resulting from:      
Non-deductible share based compensation 196 2.2  72 0.1 
Non-deductible portion of foreign exchange loss  - -  (1,111) (1.6) 
Revisions to prior year estimates (3,741) (42.2)  3,442 5.0 
Non-deductible fair value adjustment on debt settled in common shares - -  899 1.3 
B.C. mineral tax  1,962 22.1  (12,896) (18.9) 
Other 3 -  (3) - 

Income and mining tax recovery $(3,974) (44.8)  $(28,393) (41.1) 

Current income and mining tax (recovery) expense $352   $(10,235)  
Deferred income and mining tax recovery (4,326)   (18,158)  

 $(3,974)   $(28,393)  

 
 December 31 

2019 
December 31 

2019 
(Note (4(b)) 

Deferred income and mining tax assets $11,230 $9,115 

Deferred income and mining tax liabilities (187,035) (189,244) 

Net deferred income and mining tax liabilities $(175,805) $(180,129) 

 
 December 31 

2020 
December 31 

2019 
(Note (4(b)) 

Deferred income and mining tax assets and (liabilities)   

  Mineral properties  $(209,162) 
) 

$(190,208) 
)   Mineral properties – mineral tax (26,586) (30,213) 

  Net operating tax losses carried forward(1)  55,912 36,062 

  Other 4,031 4,230 

Net deferred income and mining tax liabilities $(175,805) $(180,129) 
 

(1) The Company believes that it is probable that the results of future operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the 

     above noted deferred income tax assets. 
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At December 31, 2020, the Company had net operating tax loss carry forwards in Canada of $235,990 which can be applied 
to reduce future Canadian taxable income and will expire between 2026 and 2039.  In addition, the Company had net 
operating tax loss carry forwards in the United States of US$20,637 which can be applied to reduce future US taxable income 
and will expire in 2030 to 2037.   

The Company had the following tax effected temporary differences and tax effected unused tax losses at December 31, 
2020 in respect of which no deferred tax asset has been recognized: 

 Mineral  
Properties & Other Tax Losses Total 

Expiry 2026 and beyond $  - $9,702 $9,702 

No expiry date 12,057   8,866 20,923 

 $12,057 $18,568 $30,625 
 

19.  (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE  

Basic (loss) earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) for the year by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. The basic and diluted earnings per share are the same as there are no 
instruments that have a dilutive effect on earnings.  

    2020 
  

2019 
  

Net (Loss) Income    $(4,892) $319,447 

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding    128,490,174 127,277,090 

Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per common share    $(0.04) $2.51 

      

Net Loss from continuing operations    $(4,892) $(41,224) 

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding    128,490,174 127,277,090 

Basic and diluted loss per common share    $(0.04) $(0.32) 

      

Net Income from discontinued operations    $  - $360,671 

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding    - 127,277,090 

Basic and diluted earnings per common share    $  - $2.83 
 

The following common shares that may be issued in relation to the following items have been excluded from the calculation 
of diluted loss per common share as the result would be anti-dilutive: 

    2020 2019 

Stock options    2,345,000 1,996,000 
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20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND COMPENSATION TO DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Imperial Metals Corporation and its subsidiaries 
and joint ventures listed in the following tables:   

  % Equity Interest 

Subsidiaries Incorporation 2020 2019 

416898 BC Ltd. Canada 100% 100% 

Bethlehem Resources Corporation Canada 100% 100% 

Catface Copper Mines Limited Canada 100% 100% 

CAT-Gold Corporation Canada 100% 100% 

Goldstream Mining Corporation Canada 100% 100% 

HML Mining Inc. Canada 100% 100% 

High G Minerals Corporation Canada 100% 100% 

Highway 37 Power Corp. Canada 100% 100% 

Huckleberry Mines Ltd. Canada 100% 100% 

Mount Polley Mining Corporation Canada 100% 100% 

Princeton Exploration Ltd. Canada 100% 100% 

Red Chris Development Company Ltd.  Canada 100% 100% 

Ruddock Creek Mining Corporation Canada 100% 100% 

Selkirk Metals Corp. Canada 100% 100% 

Sterling Gold Mining Corporation USA 100% 100% 

    

  % Interest in JV 

Joint Ventures (Unincorporated)  2020 2019 

Red Chris Joint Venture  Canada 30% 30% 

Ruddock Creek Joint Venture Canada  45.3% 45.3% 

(a) Related Party Transactions 

Related party transactions and balances with joint ventures, a significant shareholder, companies controlled by a significant 
shareholder, companies in which directors are owners, and with directors and officers are as follows: 

Statement of Income (Loss)    2020 2019 

Other revenue (equipment rental and other services)    $1,566 $886 
Loan guarantee fee for guarantee of second lien credit facility     $  - $697 
Loan guarantee fee for guarantee of senior credit facility     $  - $2,786 
Line of credit arrangement fee    $  - $100 
Junior Credit Facility Extension Fee    $  - $45 
Interest expense    $  - $15,087 

The Company incurred the above transactions and balances in the normal course of operations. 

(b) Compensation of Directors and Key Management Personnel 

The remuneration of the Company’s directors and other key management personnel are as follows:  

  2020 2019 

Short term benefits(1)   $1,486 $2,062 

Share based payments(2)  $518 $  - 

(1)  Short term employee benefits include salaries, estimated bonuses payable within the year of the Statement of Financial Position date 
and other annual employee benefits.  

(2) Share based payments are the fair value of options granted in the period to directors and other key management personnel.  
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21. REPORTABLE SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The Company operates primarily in Canada.  All of the Company’s assets are located in Canada, except for assets in relation 
to Sterling mine totaling $6,477 as December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019-$6,609) which are located in the USA. The 
Company’s reportable segments reflect the internal reporting used by the Company’s management to report to the chief 
operating decision maker.  

Reportable Segments   December 31, 2020 

 Red Chris 
Mount  
Polley Huckleberry 

Corporate  
and Others Total 

Reportable segmented revenues $146,292 $492 $1,614 $1,654 $150,052 

Less inter-segment revenues - (79) (484) (1,392) (1,955) 

Revenues from external sources $146,292 $413 $1,130 $262 $148,097 

Depletion and depreciation $34,581 $4,517 $1,163 $27 $40,288 

Interest (expense) and other finance (loss) income $(569) $(1,527) $(1,465) $313 $(3,248) 

Net income (loss) $15,709 $(6,625) $(11,478) $(2,228) $(4,892) 

Capital expenditures  $73,243 $939 $903 $(1,484) $73,601 

Total assets $644,102 $146,767 $242,628 $57,824 $1,091,321 

Total liabilities $222,079 $53,709 $82,880 $4,170 $362,838 

 
Reportable Segments 

   
December 31, 2019 

(Note 4(b)) 

 Red Chris 
Mount  
Polley Huckleberry 

Corporate 
and Others Total 

Continuing Operations:      

Reportable segmented revenues $35,868 $37,323 $1,480 $695 $75,366 

Less inter-segment revenues - (2,092) (1,075) (376) (3,543) 

Revenues from external sources $35,868 $35,231 $405 $319 $71,823 

Depletion and depreciation $10,631 $9,377 $1,056 $31 $21,095 

Interest (expense) and other finance (expense) 
income $(28,292) $(9,970) $699 $(3,317) $(40,880) 

Net (loss) income from continuing operations   $(18,997) $(17,632) $1,907 $(6,502) $(41,224) 

      
Discontinued Operations:      

Reportable segmented revenues $164,904 $  - $  - $  - $164,904 

Less inter-segment revenues 1,163 - - - 1,163 

Revenues from external sources $166,067 $  - $  - $  - $166,067 

Depletion and depreciation $9,162 $  - $  - $  - $9,162 

Interest expense and other finance expense $(2,793) $  - $  - $  - $(2,793) 

Gain on sale and revaluation of interest in Red Chris $439,975 $  - $  - $  - $439,975 

Net income from discontinued operations $360,671 $  - $  - $  - $360,671 

Net income (loss) $341,674 $(17,632) $1,907 $(6,502) $319,447 

Capital expenditures  
(continuing and discontinued operations) $42,488 $5,431 $45 $1,412 $49,376 

Total assets $606,152 $154,052 $230,560 $112,724 $1,103,488 

Total liabilities $224,229 $68,032 $69,288 $9,160 $370,709 
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Revenue by Geographic Area 

 2020 2019    

  Switzerland $79,258 $70,761    
  China 23,527 -    
  Australia 7,850 -    
  Singapore 35,657 -    
  Canada 1,805 1,062    

 $148,097 $71,823    

Revenues are attributed to geographic area based on country of customer. In the year ended December 31, 2020, the 
Company had 4 principal customers individually accounting for more than 10% each for a total 78% of revenues (December 
31, 2019 – 3 principal customers accounting for 89% of revenues).  

The Company’s principal product is copper concentrate (contains copper, gold, and silver) which is sold at prices quoted on 
the London Metals Exchange and LBMA.  The Company sells all concentrate production to third party traders.   

Revenue by Major Product and Service 

 2020 2019    

Copper $93,921 $43,126    
Gold 51,313 27,187    
Silver 1,058 503    
Other 1,805 1,007    

 $148,097 $71,823    
 

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, INTEREST RATE AND CREDIT RISK 

During the year, the Company examined the various financial instrument risks to which it is exposed and assessed the 
impact and likelihood of those risks. These risks may include credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other price risks. 
Where material, these risks are reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors. 

Capital Risk Management 

The Company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing the return to 
stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance.  The capital structure of the Company consists of equity 
comprised of share capital, contributed surplus, currency translation adjustment and retained earnings. 

Credit Risk 

The Company’s credit risk is limited to cash, trade and other receivables, and future site reclamation deposits in the ordinary 
course of business.  The credit risk of cash and future site reclamation deposits is mitigated by placing funds in financial 
institutions with high credit quality.  

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is as follows: 

 2020 2019   

Cash $34,019 $89,953   
Marketable securities 130 39   
Trade receivables 5,992 5,759   
Future site reclamation deposits 14,359 14,319   

 $54,500 $110,070   
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Liquidity Risk    

Cash balances on hand and the projected cash flow from the Red Chris mine are expected to be sufficient to fund the 
Company’s obligations as they come. However, there are inherent risks related to the operation of the Company’s mines 
which could require additional sources of financing. Liquidity risk is also impacted by credit risk, although the Company 
considers this risk low. 

Currency Risk 

Financial instruments that impact the Company’s net income and comprehensive income due to currency fluctuations 
include US dollar denominated cash, trade, and other accounts receivable, reclamation deposits, trade and other payables 
and debt. If the US Dollar had been 10% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, net loss and 
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 would have been higher/lower by $1,521. 

Interest Rate Risk 

The Company does not have any significant exposure to interest rate risk.  

Provisionally Priced Revenues 

As a result of the provisional pricing terms in its sales contracts, the Company is exposed to commodity price risk until final 
pricing is determined. Therefore, revenues in subsequent periods will be adjusted for any changes to provisionally priced 
accounts receivables outstanding at period end. Final pricing is usually four to five months after the date of shipment and 
therefore changes in metal prices may have a material impact on the final revenue. 

Provisionally priced revenues is comprised of the following: 

 December 31 
2020  

 December 31 
2019 

 Provisional 
 lb/oz 

Provisional 
Price per lb/oz 

 Provisional 
 lb/oz 

Provisional 
Price per lb/oz 

 000’s US$  000’s US$ 

Copper  5,884.7 $3.52  6,561.9 $2.80 
Gold  2.9 $1,894  2.5 $1,520 

The following tables summarize the realized and unrealized gains (losses) on provisionally priced sales: 

 2020  2019  

 Copper Gold & Silver Total  Copper Gold & Silver Total 

Realized $996 $1,351 $2,347  $433 $957 $1,390 
Unrealized 4,148 664 4,812  1,456 98 1,554 

Total $5,144 $2,015 $7,159  $1,889 $1,055 $2,944 

Fair Value Estimation 

The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments has been classified within the fair value hierarchy at December 31, 
2020 as follows: 

Financial Assets Level 1 Level 2 Total 

  Cash  $34,019 $  - $34,019 
  Marketable securities 130 - 130 
  Provisionally priced accounts receivables - 2,158 2,158 
  Future site reclamation deposits 14,359 - 14,359 

   48,508 2,158 50,666 
Provisionally priced accounts receivables – repayable - (274) (274) 
 $48,508 $1,884 $50,392 
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23. COMMITMENTS AND PLEDGES 

At December 31, 2020, the Company has pledged the following assets for settlement of future site reclamation provisions: 

Future site reclamation deposits included with other assets (Note 7) $14,359 
Mineral property, plant and equipment 28,370 
Letters of credit (Note 10) 33,823 

 $76,552 
 

24. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

The Company is from time to time involved in various claims and legal proceedings arising in the conduct of its business. 

During the third quarter of 2014, a securities class action under section 138 of the Ontario Securities Act was filed against 
the Company and certain of its directors, officers and others. On September 23, 2020, the Ontario Superior Court denied 
the Plaintiff leave to proceed with this claim. The Plaintiff has appealed this decision. The Company is of the view that the 
allegations contained in the claim are without merit and are unlikely to succeed.  

During the June 2020 period, a claim from a contractor was filed against the Company and has been submitted to 
arbitration. The claim is based on a contractor’s self-assessment of additional compensation owed for work previously 
carried out. The Company has denied that any further amounts are owed and is of the view that the allegations contained 
in the claim are without merit and are unlikely to succeed. The Company has made a counter claim against the contractor 
for breach of contract and negligent misrepresentations.  

The Company has commenced action against its insurance underwriters to recover business interruption losses incurred at 
the Mount Polley mine. The insurers have filed a statement of defense and a counterclaim. The Company is of the view that 
the counterclaim is without merit and unlikely to succeed. 

25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On March 10, 2021 the Company entered into a $10,000 promissory note financing (“Note”) with an affiliate of its major 
shareholder. The Note matures on April 1, 2022 and bears interest of 8.0% per annum. 

On March 15, 2021 the Company earned a 30% interest in the GJ Copper-Gold Property for a payment of $3,038 to Newcrest 
Red Chris Mining Limited. 
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